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Doroni Aerospace, Inc
11555 Heron Bay Blvd. Suite 200
Coral Springs, FL 33076
https://doroni.io/

Up to £1,783,142.48 in Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock at $2.96
Minimum Target Amount: $9,998.88

A crowdfunding investment involves risk. You should not invest any funds in this offering unless you can afford to lose yvour
entire investment.

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the issuer and the terms of the offering,
including the merits and risks involved. These securities have not been recommended or approved by any federal or state
securities commission or regulatory authority. Furthermore, these authorities have not passed upon the accuracy or
adequacy of this document.

The U.5. Securities and Exchange Commission does not pass upon the merits of any securities offered or the terms of the
offering, nor does it pass upon the accuracy or completeness of any offering document or literature.

These securities are offered under an exemption from registration; however, the U.5. Securities and Exchange Commission
has not made an independent determination that these securities are exempt from registration.

In the event that we become a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we intend to take advantage of
the provisions that relate to "Emerging Growth Companies” under the JOBS Act of 2012, including electing to delay
compliance with certain new and revised accounting standards under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,



Company:

Company: Doroni Aerospace, Inc
Address: 11555 Heron Bay Blvd. Suite 200, Coral Springs, FL 33076

state of Incorporation: DE
Date Incorporated: October 06, 2021

Terms:

Equity

Offering Minimum: $9,998.88 | 3,378 shares of Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock
Offering Maximum: $1,783,142.48 | 602,413 shares of Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock
Type of Security Offered: Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock

Purchase Price of Security Offered: $2.96

Minimum Investment Amount (per investor): $594.96

*Maximum number of shares offered subject to adjustment for bonus shares. See Bonus info below,

Voting Rights of Surities Sold in this Offering

The Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock being offered herein (the “Securities”) do not offer any voting rights, unless required by
law. Further, the number of authorized shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company (the "Class A Common Stock™) {in
which the Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock are convertible) may be increased or decreased by the affirmative vote of the holders
of a majority of the votes represented by all outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote, irrespective
of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

As a condition to the purchase of the Securities, upon the issuance of the Securities, the Subscriber agrees that the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (the "CEQ"), or his or her successor, is appointed as the Subscriber’s true and lawful proxy
and attorney, with the power to act alone and with full power of substitution, to, consistent with this instrument and on
behalf of the Subscriber, (i) vote (to the extent applicable) all Securities, at any time and from time, on any matter for which
approval of the holders of the Company’s stock is sought or upon which such holders are otherwise entitled to vote or
consent by written consent, (ii) give and receive notices and communications, (1ii) execute any instrument or document that
the CEO determines is necessary or appropriate in the exercise of its authority under this instrument, and (iv) take all
actions necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the CEO for the accomplishment of the foregoing (collectively, the
“Proxy™). The Proxy granted by the Subscriber pursuant to this Section are coupled with an interest. The Proxy will be
irrevocable. The Proxy, so long as the Subscriber is an individual, will survive the death, incompetency, and disability of the
Subscriber and, so long as the Subscriber is an entity, will survive the merger or reorganization of the Subscriber or any
other entity holding the Securities. However, the Proxy will terminate upon the closing of a firm commitment underwritten
public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 covering the offer and sale of
Common Stock or the effectiveness of a registration statement under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 covering the
Common Stock. The provisions of this Section 22 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Subscription

Agreement.

Forward-Looking Information Legend

THE OFFERING MATERIALS MAY CONTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INFORMATION RELATING TO,
AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE COMPANY, ITS BUSINESS PLAN AND STRATEGY, AND ITS INDUSTRY. THESE FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS ARE BASED ON THE BELIEFS OF, ASSUMPTIONS MADE BY, AND INFORMATION CURRENTLY
AVAILAEBLE TO THE COMPANY'S MANAGEMENT. WHEN USED IN THE OFFERING MATERIALS, THE WORDS
“ESTIMATE,” "PROJECT,” "BELIEVE,” "ANTICIPATE,” "INTEND,” "EXPECT™ AND SIMILAR EXPRESSIONS ARE
INTENDED TO IDENTIFY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, WHICH CONSTITUTE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS,
THESE STATEMENTS REFLECT MANAGEMENT’S CURRENT VIEWS WITH RESPECT TO FUTURE EVENTS AND ARE
SUBJECT TO RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES THAT COULD CAUSE THE COMPANY’S ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER
MATERIALLY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. INVESTORS ARE CAUTIONED NOT
TO PLACE UNDUE RELIANCE ON THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, WHICH SPEAK ONLY AS OF THE DATE ON
WHICH THEY ARE MADE. THE COMPANY DOES NOT UNDERTAKE ANY OBLIGATION TO REVISE OR UPDATE THESE
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS TO REFLECT EVENTS OR CIRCUMSTANCES AFTER SUCH DATE OR TO REFLECT THE
OCCURRENCE OF UNANTICIPATED EVENTS.

Investment Incentives®

Lovalty Bonus | 50% Bonus Shares

Available to previous investors or predesignated friends/family of Doroni Aerospace.

Time-Based Perks




Early Bird Bonus
Invest within the first 2 weeks and receive 20% bonus shares.

Mid-Campaign Perks

Invest $594+ hetween days 40-46 and receive 10% bonus shares
Invest $594+ between days 60-66 and receive 10% bonus shares

Amount-Based Perks

Tier 1| $2,500+

10% bonus shares + Doroni Starter Investor Package (1 cap + 1 shirt)

Tier 2 | $5,000+

15% bonus shares + Doroni Mid-Level Investor Package (2 caps + 2 shirts)
Tier 3| $10,000+

20% bonus shares + Free H1-X pre-order reservation (valued at $1,000) + Doroni Premium Investor Package (2 caps, 2 shirts,
and exclusive accessories)

Tier 4 | $25,000+

25% bonus shares + Free H1-X pre-order reservation (valued at $1,000) + Invitation to attend first H1-X test flights + VIP
tour of Doroni HQ and flight simulator + Access to exclusive investor events + VIP Doroni Investor Package (2 caps, 2 shirts,
premium accessories, and more)

Tier 5 | $50,000+

30% bonus shares + Free H1-X pre-order reservation (valued at $1,000) + Invitation to attend first H1-X test flights + VIP
tour of Doroni HQ and simulator + Access to exclusive investor events + VIP Doroni Investor Package (2 caps, 2 shirts,
premium accessories, and a collector’s replica model of the H1-X)

The 10% StartEngine Venture Club Bonus

Doroni Aerospace will offer 10% additional bonus Shares for all investments that are committed by investors that are
eligible for the StartEngine Venture Club Bonus.

This means eligible StartEngine Venture Club Bonus investors will receive a 10% bonus for any Shares they purchase in this
offering. For example, if you buy 100 shares of Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock at $2.96 per share, you will receive 110 shares
of Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock. Fractional shares will not be distributed and share bonuses will be determined by rounding
down to the nearest whole share.

This 10% Bonus is only valid during the investors’ eligibility period, as determined by StartEngine. Investors eligible for this
bonus will also have priority if they are on a waitlist to invest and the company surpasses its maximum funding goal. They
will have the first opportunity to invest should room in the offering become available if prior investments are canceled or
fail.

Investors will receive the highest single bonus they are eligible for among the bonuses based on the amount invested and
time of offering elapsed (if any). Eligible investors will also receive the Venture Club Bonus, Reservation Bonus and Lovalty
Bonus in addition to the aforementioned bonus.

The Company and its Business

Company Overview
Company Overview

Doroni Aerospace, Inc. (the "Company” or "Doroni” "we” "us” or "ours”) is a pre-revenue aerospace engineering and
manufacturing company that is developing a practical, efficient, and cost-effective electric vertical takeoff and landing
aircraft ("eVTOL") mobility platform. Our go-to-market product, currently under development, the Doroni HI, is a twoseater
personal eV'TOL. We are targeting a Light Sport Aircraft ("LSA") certification with the Federal Aviation Administration
('FAA") and production targeted for 2027.

We were founded with the intention of delivering eVTOL technology directly to consumers, offering a safety centric
mobility option that allows people to intuitively transport themselves at a fraction of the time possible with traditional
automobiles. With commercial air taxi operations 2-3 years away, personal eVTOLs represent a paradigm shift in urban



transportation with the potential to bring sustainability to our transportation ecosystems and efficiency to the way we
commute, ship goods, and respond to emergencies and natural disasters.

Our mission is to democratize the power of flight. We ultimately envision that our eVTOLs will serve as a clean
transportation solution for individuals, families, first responders, law enforcement, and the military. Simplicity and safety
are among our core guiding principles, informing everything from product design and customer/user experience to scaling
out technology. The Doroni HI-X eVTOL's easy-to-use control system, intuitive flight design, and guick deployment were
engineered to simplify the inherent complexities of helicopter and airplane flight, potentially making it accessible without
the need for a traditional, commercial heavy aircraft pilot's license that requires years of flight training.

Our global team possesses decades of cumulative experience in the aerospace, electronics, software engineering, and
battery technology fields and has the ingenuity and drive to help get the industry off the ground. We believe the
transportation sector, and the world at large, stands at an inflection point, and we are positioning ourselves to deliver a
disruptive technological change to commuter transportation.

We anticipate that we will operate direct sales channels primarily to first responders, police markets, and high net worth
flight enthusiasts, brand experience stores, pop-up locations in key U.5. and European markets, as well as online sales.

We were initially organized as Doroni Aerospace LLC, a Florida Limited Liability Company on May 3, 2018, and converted to
a Delaware C-Corporation on October 6, 2021.

2025 Stock Purchase Agreement

On February 14, 2025, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA™) with Innovation Wings Industries
Company, a company incorporated under the laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, operating under the name of “Kingdom
Aero Industries™ (KAIL.

Under the terms of the SPA, KAI will invest up to $30 million in the Common Stock of the Company. The investment is
comprised of an initial 35 million to be invested at the closing, with the remaining 525 million tied to key development
milestones over the two years following the closing. Upon completion of the entire investment, KAI will hold a 40% stake in
the Company through its common stock holdings (based on the Company’s issued and outstanding share capital as of the
date hereof), subject to dilution from future capital raises (including this capital raise).

On April 6, 2025, KAl informed Doroni that it plans to close the transaction on or before May 31, 2025.

As of June 3, 2025 KAI has materially breached the terms of the SPA accordingly, on June 12, 2025 the Company notified
KAI that it is terminating the SPA effective immediately.

Current Prototvpes

H1 Pl: The H1 Pl ("HI PI") is a full-scale flying model and a fully working cockpit simulator with software avionics and
computer systems. The Doroni HI Pl is a two-seat personal eVTOL vehicle. Qur team designed, built, tested, and
successfully hovered and flew vertically and horizontally the 1850 Ib. full-scale Hl Pl prototype.

HI X: The current HIX eVTOL prototype ("HI X") under development is the successor to three previous prototypes developed
by the company - the Y6, X8, and HI Pl prototypes.

Our target is to submit the HI X to the FAA for certification and proceed to mass production in 2027, subject to our
fundraising and financial goals being met.

Competitors and Industry
Market Overview

In 2020, the transportation sector generated the largest share of greenhouse gas emissions in the U.S., adding to the fact
that state and local governments spent $204E on highways and roads the previous year (Source 1). Transportation, as it
stands, is dealing massive damage to our planet and forces us to rely on infrastructure that is both costly and unsustainable
(Source 2). The White House has taken major steps to combat the problem, committing $39B to modernize transit and
reduce carbon emissions via the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (Source 3).

According to Deloitte’s Advanced Air Mobility (“"AAM™) Report, regarding disrupting the future of mobility, "with
urbanization and population growth driving congestion in cities, AAM promises to save passengers time, improve
productivity and quality of life, increase accessibility for rural and disadvantaged communities, and expand access to goods
and services (Source 4).

Commercial air taxi operations are projected to begin as early as 2025, but the creation of an entirely new eVTOL market is
already well underway. Over $6B was invested in eVTOLs, and 5 of the largest air taxi companies went public for a combined
market cap of $10.7B in 2021. Morgan Stanley ultimately projects the market to climb to $1 trillion by 2040, and as much as
$9 trillion by 2050



Emerging United States Air Mobility Regulation

As defined by the FAA, Urban Air Mobility (UAM) enables highly automated, cooperative, passenger or cargo-carrving air
transportation services in and around urban areas. UAM is a subset of the AAM concept under development by the Federal
Aviation Administration (FAA), National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), and industry. As a subset of AAM,
UAM focuses on operations moving people and cargo in metropolitan and urban areas. This Concept of Operations
(ConOps) provides an evolving vision that will help facilitate further research on how to best assist UAM operations in the
Mational Airspace System (NAS) if demand and volume exceed current capabilities (Source 5).

In July 2023, the FAA proposed a rule to enhance the safety and performance of light sport aircraft. The proposed
Modernization of Special Airworthiness Certification (MOSAIC) rule would put performance safety standards around larger
aircraft that innovators are building by expanding the definition of Light-Sport Aircraft. "This rule will encourage
manufacturers to make Light Sport Aircraft operations safer, more versatile, and accessible while maintaining rigorous
safety standards,” said Acting FAA Associate Administrator for Safety David Boulter. Under the proposal, the aircraft's
weight limit is based on its stall speed. By permitting higher stall speeds, the proposal would bring within the Light Sport
Aircraft regulatory framework aircraft weighing as much as 3,000 pounds. This more than doubles the weight of aircraft
under the current definition of Light-Sport of 1,320 pounds, allowing larger and stronger aircraft to qualify as Light Sport.
The proposal would also expand the type of aircraft sport pilots can operate and allow them to use their aircraft for a wider
range of operations such as some aerial work. Although sport pilots could operate aircraft designed with up to four seats,
they would remain limited to operating with only one pilot and one passenger. The public comments closed as of last
January 2024 and FAA has up to 18 months to finalize new rules.

More recently, in October 2024, the FAA published the “final rule,” an 880-page document outlining necessary certification,
operating rules, and finalizing other amendments that are essential in integrating powered-lift aircraft into our existing
National Airspace System (NAS). Current Administrator Mike Whitaker was guoted “The FAA will continue to prioritize the
safety of our system as we work to seamlessly integrate innovative technology and operations. This final rule provides the
necessary framework to allow powered lift aircraft to safely operate in our airspace, Powered lift aircraft are the first new
category of aircraft in nearly 80 vears and this historic rule will pave the way for accommodating wide-scale Advanced Air
Mobility (AAM) operations in the future.” (Source 6)

The National Aeronautics and Space Administration ("NASA") is also assisting the FAA in air traffic management solutions
for the future of Urban Air Mobility, which include multiple use cases for eVTOL aircraft, including cargo transportation,
military and law enforcement, and emergency/natural disaster response. In addition, the US Air Force established the
Agility Prime Program, partnering with the commercial eVTOL industry to propel the third revolution in aerospace and start
a new class of air mobility systems. These are just a few of the major changes and initiatives the nascent industry can
anticipate in the coming years (Source 7).

eVTOL Market Segmentation
Electric vertical takeoff and landing aireraft are changing the way the world thinks about air travel and redefining what is

possible. We believe that there are over few hundred different eV'TOL developers globally at the moment. The market itself
15 divided into three primary segments, namely: Cargo, Personal, and Air Taxi.

\ir Taxi

The Air Taxi segment appears to be the most high-profile, with large commercial developers like Joby, Vertical and Archer
in the limelight. These air taxi eVTOLs are much larger 4-6 seater aircraft strictly intended for commercial use (not for
personal use) and entail highly complicated technological challenges and complex/lengthy certification processes with the
FAA. Although these are our potential competitors, to our knowledge, none of these developers have publicly announced
any plans to offer vehicles for personal purchase and use. As such, we see the tremendous benefit and value of entering the
market with a personal eVTOL like the Doroni HI-X.

Cargo

The cargo market includes developers such as Elroy Air and Metro, which don't fly a manned eVTOL and only fly cargo. By
comparison, the Doroni HI-X eVTOL is designed to be a dual-use and can carry up to two passengers, pilot included, and/or
cargo with a maximum payload of 500 Ibs.

Personal

The personal eVTOL segment is further subdivided into 1- and 2-seater categories. 1-seaters typically have an open frame
with exposed propellers, have a limited range, and are intended for leisure and recreational use. The Doroni HI-X is
designed to fall under the 2-seater + payload category.

Competitors

We believe that the primary sources of competition for our service are ground-based mobility solutions, other eVTOL
developers/operators, and local/regional incumbent aircraft charter services. Our competitors in the UAM market include



companies such as Joby Aviation, Archer Aviation, and Volocpter GmbH. While there are differentiated approaches to
vehicle designs and business models, we believe that our aircraft design and vertically integrated approach offer the
greatest long term prospects to successtully serve our customers and, in turn, to monetize the full value chain from
development through operations.

Busi Model and Differenti

Our go-to-market personal eVTOL has multiple use cases across several sectors. Our business model consists of building
and selling the Doroni HI-X eVTOL, generating revenue by specifically targeting emergency response, the military, law
enforcement, and the purely recreational sports/leisure segment which also includes sustainable tourism. The HI-X is
different than other available eVTOLs on the market because it is designed with ducted propellers that greatly increase
overall safety, while also enabling a higher thrust efficiency and greatly reduced noise levels. We anticipate that the HI-X
will be equipped with airframe parachutes and a variety of sensors, which will help the aircraft maintain altitude and
position in windy conditions and during close maneuvers in crowded environments. Our goal is to deliver up to 120 units in
2027 and approximately 1,800 units in 2030.

In the short term, we anticipate our early adopters and potential customer base to include aviation enthusiasts, who already
own a traditional luxury automobile and/or luxury electric vehicle (such as a Tesla), and are interested in owning a personal
eVTOL. In the long- term, we believe that the practicality and ease-of-use of flying in an eVTOL aircraft will come to take a

significant share of commuter transportation.

Features

Our team designed an intuitive, easy-to-use aircraft control system for the HI-X based on an auto-stabilizing, multi-rotor

aircraft with three axes of movement. Our unique patent for the design and aerodynamic features (Patent No. US D978,717
S) combines what we believe are the best elements of a drone and aircraft to deliver ease of use and quick deployment. We
believe that this, combined with the HI's propulsion system, present an agile vehicle capable of accomplishing a variety of
tasks across several target markets.

In terms of pilot control, the aircraft's control sticks mirror each other for right or left-handed uses, with control taken over
by the last stick engaged. Pitch, roll, and yvaw are integrated into this single stick, and anti-collision sensors will maintain
the aircraft's position in the event the pilot removes his/her hand from the control stick.

The Doroni HI-X is expected to be 80% charged within 25 minutes, have a cruising speed of 100 mph, a max speed of 120
mph, and a range of 60 miles. As electric vehicle technology and battery management systems continue to advance, we
project this range to increase to 100 miles as it nears product launch.

Safety

The customer is at the center of everything that we do. We have incorporated many safety considerations into the design
and nature of the Doroni HI-X eVTOL. From its inception, through the Y6 and XS prototypes that preceded it, the Doroni HI
is designed to maximize safety and will undergo exhaustive multi-level quality control.

First and foremost, as a flying vehicle capable of landing in a front yvard or parking in a standard two-car garage, in areas
near families and children at play, ducted propellers are a crucial facet. We believe that our aesthetically pleasing, patent
design (Patent No. US D978,717 5) and engineering (Patent No. US-20220081107-Al) separate the Doroni H1-X from its
competitors with enhanced overall safety while enabling a higher thrust efficiency {or more efficient in energy
consumption) and greatly reduced noise levels.

We anticipate that the HI-X eVTOL will be equipped with airframe parachutes and a variety of sensors, including 360° anti-
collision sensors, lidar, a barometer, and an Optic Flow camera to help maintain altitude and position in windy conditions.
This is in addition to a variety of other safety features, namely: multiple redundancy batteries, emergency airbags, increased
lift and stability, ten independent propulsion systems, energy-dissipating landing gear, and an energy-dissipating body.

Sources:

1. https://www.urban.org/policy-centers/cross-center-initiatives/state-and-local-finance-initiative/state-and-local-
backgrounders/highway-and-road-expenditures

2. htrps:/fwww.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions,

3. https://www.whitehouse.gov/bipartisan-infrastructure-law/; and https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-
roomy/statements releases/2021,/11,/06/fact-sheet-

4. https:/fwww2odeloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/aerospace-detense/advanced-air-mobility. html

5.
https://www.faa.gov/sites/faa. gov/tiles/Urban®%20Air% 20Mobility% 20% 28UAM % 29% 20Concept % 200t % 200perations % 202,
0 0.pdf



6. https:/www.faa.gov/newsroom/faa -proposes- rule-enhance-safety-and-performance- light-sport-aircraft
7. https://www.morganstanley.com/ideas/autonomous-aircraft

Current Stage and Roadmap

Current Stage

To date, we have raised over $8.8 million through various fund raising campaigns. At the end of 2022, we moved into a new
research and development facility, where we developed the H1-Pl prototype. We are now developing the Hl X, a new full-
scale, fully functional flying prototype. In addition, we have been coordinating with Space Florida, a state government
agency, which is providing resources to bring our operations to scale (i.e. allocating land, building a production facility, and
tooling, leasing, etc.).

In late March 2023, we revealed the HI Pl model, the most comprehensive look at the go-to-market product we have offered
to the public to date. In July 2023, we presented the Hi-X's cockpit via a full VR experience at the Sixteenth Annual
Electrical Aircraft Symposium. We have received over 500 pre-orders from private consumers.

To the best of our knowledge, we have procured nearly all the technology, components (batteries, motors, etc.), and
partnerships necessary to develop the Hl-X. We are, however, still in the development stage for all of our products, and have
not yet established a manufacturing facility or manufacturing processes. Our target is to submit the Hl X to the FAA for
certification and proceed to production in 2027.

Previgus Devel | Mil

The HI Pl eVTOL prototype developed is the successor to two previous prototypes developed by us, the Y6 and X8
prototypes. With the more recent of the two, the X5, we designed, built, tested, and successfully lifted off the 643 b, full-
scale prototype.

While achieving these accomplishments, we have received numerous press mentions, including the Miami Herald, Fox
News, News Nation, Robb Report, Bloomberg, The Vertical Flight Society, Space Florida, the Florida Venture Forum, Green
Technology, Aero News Network, eVTOL.com, FutureFlight.com, Ami Magazine, Refresh Miami, Yahoo! Finance, and the
BEC.

Intellectual Property

We have seven patent applications currently pending and two patents approved: Patent No. US D978,717 § (application no.
29/756587) for the design of a personal aircraft and Patent No. US-20220081107-Al {application no. 17/478,870) for utility.
The first patent was filed on October 29, 2020, and published on February 21, 2023, and has a term of 15 years; the second
was filed on September 17, 2021, and was approved for issuance on February 1, 2024. We intend to grow our current
intellectual property to include design, aerodynamic, and battery utility patents by the end of 2025.

Employees

We currently have one full-time employees, five full time consultants and we also work with various other independent
contractors and consultants, allowing us to maintain a low full-time headcount.

Property

We maintain virtual offices at the site of our previous physical offices located at 11555 Heron Bay Blvd., Suite 200, Coral
springs, FL 33076, Our physical offices are located at 935 NW 31st Avenue, Suite F, in Pompano Beach, Florida, where we
lease 10,966 square feet of office space under a lease that expires December 31, 2025, Qur current rent is $15,115, increasing
to $15,868 per month on January 1, 2025. Our estimated monthly common area maintenance expenses are $5,721.

Legal Proceedings
We are not involved in any litigation, and our management is not aware of any pending or threatened legal actions.

Future Roadmap

Subject to the availability of sufficient funding, we project to have a full-scale, fully functional flying HIX eV TOL prototype
completed during 2025 and are targeting a Light-Sport Aircraft certification with the FAA ahead of the anticipated product
launch at the beginning of 2027.

Currently, our future development roadmap includes, but is not limited to completing the full-scale, fully functional flying
HI X prototype; the evolution of system and software architecture including protocols; testing in various conditions, i.e.
weather, winds, temperatures, and working with a Designated Engineering Representative to assist the company in securing
an LSA certification with the FAA.

The Team



Officers and Directors

Name: Doron Merdinger
Doron Merdinger's current primary role is with the Issuer.
Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

& Position: Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), Founder, Director
Dates of Service: November, 2016 - Present
Responsibilities: CEO of the Company; responsibilities include overseeing the day-to-day operations of the company
and managing all strategy and business decisions. Mr. Merdinger is the Company's majority shareholder with
50,585,000 shares of Common Stock.

Name: Yoram Bibring
Yoram Bibring's current primary role is with the Issuer.
Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

# Position: Chief Financial Officer (CFO) - Fractional
Dates of Service: November, 2024 - Present
Responsibilities: Overseeing the day-to-day financial operations of the Company and together with the CEO and COO,
setting the financial strategy of the Company. Mr. Bibring is engaged as a contractor.

Other business experience in the past three years:

* Employer: Self Employed
Title: Consultant
Dates of Service: December, 2023 - October, 2024
Responsibilities: Financial consultant

Other business experience in the past three vears:

e Employer: Marpai, Inc.
Title: CFO
Dates of Service: September, 2021 - November, 2023
Responsibilities: Officer responsible for the day-to day-financial operations and part of the management team that set
the strategy of the Marpai, Inc

Name: Rami Arbili
Rami Arbili's current primary role is with the Issuer.
Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

# Position: Chief Operating Officer (COO)
Dates of Service: April, 2025 - Present
Responsibilities: Overseeing the day-to-day operations of the Company and together with the CEQ and CFO, setting
the strategy of the Company.

Other business experience in the past three yvears:

e Employer: Doroni Aerospace, Inc.
Title: Director of Operations
Dates of Service: December, 2024 - March, 2025
Responsibilities: Responsible for day-to-day operations of the Company

Other business experience in the past three years:

= Emplover: Selt Employed
Title: Consultant
Dates of Service: October, 2024 - December, 2024
Responsibilities: Assisting startups and small businesses to develop and implement effective business processes.



Other business experience in the past three vears:

* Emplover: Pop Global
Title: CEO and COO
Dates of Service: October, 2022 - October, 2024
Responsibilities: Responsibilities include overseeing the day-to-day operations of the company and managing all
strategy and business decisions.

Other business experience in the past three vears:

#* Employer: Smartech
Title: Vice President, Americas
Dates of Service: December, 2018 - September, 2022
Responsibilities: Responsibilities include overseeing the day-to-day operations of the company in North and South
America,

Name: Omer Bar-Yohay

Omer Bar-Yohay's current primary role is with Data Blanket, Inc. Omer Bar-Yohay currently services 2 hours per week in
their role with the Issuer.

Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

& Position: Director
Dates of Service: December, 2024 - Present
Responsibilities: Overseeing the management of the Company and participating in setting the strategy of the
company

Other business experience in the past three years:

= Emplover: Data Blanket, Inc
Title: Co-Founder and CEQ

Dates of Service: November, 2022 - Present
Responsibilities: Officer responsible for the long-term strategy and day-to-day operations of Data Blanket, Inc.

Other business experience in the past three years:

» Employer: AutoFlight, Inc.
Title: President
Dates of Service: April, 2022 - March, 2023
Responsibilities: responsible for the strategic structure, development and certification program, testing, and
operations of AutoFlight, Inc.

Other business experience in the past three years:

= Employer: Eviation Aircraft, Inc.
Title: Co-Founder and CEQ
Dates of Service: February, 2015 - March, 2022
Responsibilities: Officer responsible for the long-term strategy and day-to-day operations of Eviation Aircraft, Inc.

Risk Factors

The SEC requires the company to identify risks that are specific to its business and its financial condition. The company is
still subject to all the same risks that all companies in its business, and all companies in the economy, are exposed to, These
include risks relating to economic downturns, political and economic events and technological developments (such as
hacking and the ability to prevent hacking). Additionally, early-stage companies are inherently more risky than more
developed companies. You should consider general risks as well as specific risks when deciding whether to invest.

These are the risks that relate to the Company:

Uncertain Risk



An investment in the Company (also referred to as "we’, "us”, "our”, or the "Company") involves a high degree of risk and
should only be considered by those who can afford the loss of their entire investment. Furthermore, the purchase of any
securities should only be undertaken by persons whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to indefinitely
retain an illiquid investment. Each investor in the Company should research thoroughly any offering before making an
investment decision and consider all of the information provided regarding the Company as well as the following risk
factors, in addition to the other information in the Company’s Form C. The following risk factors are not intended, and shall
not be deemed to be, a complete description of the commercial, financial, and other risks inherent in the investment in the
Company.

Our business projections are only projections

There can be no assurance that the Company will meet its projections. There can be no assurance that the Company will be
able to find sufficient demand for its product or service, that people think it's a better option than a competing product or
service, or that we will be able to provide a product or service at a level that allows the Company to generate revenue, make
a profit, or grow the business.

Any valuation is difficult to assess

The valuation for the offering was established by the Company. Unlike listed companies that are independently valued
through market-driven stock prices, the valuation of private companies, especially startups, is difficult to assess, may not be
exact, and you may risk overpaying for your investment,

The transterability of the Securities you are buying is limited

You should be prepared to hold this investment for several years or longer. Following your investment, there will be certain
transfer restrictions on the securities you purchase. More importantly, there are a limited number of established markets for
the resale of these securities. As a result, if you decide to sell these securities in the future, you may not be able to find, or
may have ditficulty finding, a buyer, and you may have to locate an interested buyer when you do seek to resell your
investment. The Company may be acquired by an existing plaver in the industry. However, that may never happen or it may
happen at a price that results in vou losing money on this investment.

Your investment could be illiguid for a long time

You should be prepared to hold this investment for several years or longer. For the 12 months following your investment,
there will be restrictions on how you can resell the securities vou receive. More importantly, there are limited established
markets for these securities. As a result, if you decide to sell these securities in the future, you may not be able to find a
buyer. The Company may be acquired by an existing player in the same or a similar industry. However, that may never
happen or it may happen at a price that results in you losing money on this investment.

The Company may undergo a future change that could affect your investment

The Company may change its business, management or advisory team, IP portfolio, location of its principal place of
business or production facilities, or other change which may result in adverse effects on your investment. Additionally, the
Company may alter its corporate structure through a merger, acquisition, consolidation, or other restructuring of its current
corporate entity structure. Should such a future change occur, it would be based on management's review and
determination that it is in the best interests of the Company.

Your information rights are limited with limited post-closing disclosures

The Company is required to disclose certain information about the Company, its business plan, and its anticipated use of
proceeds, among other things, in this offering. Early-stage companies may be able to provide only limited information
about their business plan and operations because it does not have fully developed operations or a long history to provide
more disclosure. The Company is also only obligated to file information annually regarding its business, including financial
statements. In contrast to publicly listed companies, investors will be entitled only to that post-offering information that is
required to be disclosed to them pursuant to applicable law or regulation, including Regulation CF. Such disclosure
generally requires only that the Company issue an annual report via a Form C-AR. Investors are generally not entitled to
interim updates or financial information.

Some early-stage companies may lack professional guidance

Some companies attribute their success, in part, to the guidance of professional early-stage advisors, consultants, or
investors (e.g., angel investors or venture capital firms). advisors, consultants, or investors may play an important role in a
company through their resources, contacts, and experience in assisting early-stage companies in executing their business
plans. An early-stage company primarily financed through Regulation Crowdfunding may not have the benefit of such
professional investors, which may pose a risk to your investment.

If the Company cannot raise sufficient funds it will not succeed

The Company is offering Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock in the amount of up to $ 1,783,142.48 in this offering, and may close
on any investments that are made. Even if the maximum amount is raised, the Company will require additional funds in the
near term, which it plans to raise in parallel or near-term additional offerings .If the Company cannot raise those funds for
whatever reason, and/or other reasons relating to the Company itself or the broader economy, it may not survive. If the
Company manages to raise only the minimum amount of funds sought, it will have to find other sources of funding for some
of the plans outlined in "Use of Proceeds.”



We may not have enough capital as needed and may be required to raise more capital.

We will need to raise additional equity capital concurrently with this offering and in the near future, in order to fulfill our
growth objectives. [ssuing more equity will require bringing on additional investors. Securing these additional investors
could require pricing our equity below its current price. If so, your investment could lose value as a result of this additional
dilution. In addition, even if the equity is not priced lower, your ownership percentage would be decreased with the addition
of more investors. If we are unable to find additional investors willing to provide capital, then it is possible that we will
choose to cease our efforts at bringing our products to market. In that case, the only asset remaining to generate a return on
your investment could be our intellectual property. Even if we are not forced to cease our efforts at bringing our products to
market, the unavailability of credit could result in the Company performing below expectations, which could adversely
impact the value of yvour investment.

Terms of subsequent financings may adversely impact vour investment

We will need to engage in common equity, debt, or preferred stock financings in the near future, which may reduce the
value of your investment in the Company. Interest on debt securities could increase costs and negatively impact operating
results. Preferred stock could be issued in series from time to time with such designation, rights, preferences, and
limitations as needed to raise capital. The terms of preferred stock could be more advantageous to those investors than to
the holders of common stock or other securities. In addition, if we need to raise more equity capital from the sale of
Common Stock, institutional or other investors may negotiate terms that are likely to be more favorable than the terms of
your investment, and possibly a lower purchase price per security.

Management's Discretion as to Use of Proceeds

Our success will be substantially dependent upon the discretion and judgment of our management team with respect to the
application and allocation of the proceeds of this offering. The Use of Proceeds described below is an estimate based on our
current business plan. We, however, may find it necessary or advisable to re-allocate portions of the net proceeds reserved
for one category to another, and we will have broad discretion in doing so.

Projections: Forward Looking Information

Any projections or forward-looking statements regarding our anticipated financial or operational performance are
hypothetical and are based on management’s best estimate of the probable results of our operations and may not have been
reviewed by our independent accountants. These projections are based on assumptions that management believes are
reasonable. Some assumptions invariably will not materialize due to unanticipated events and circumstances beyond
management's control. Therefore, actual results of operations will vary from such projections, and such variances may be
material. Any projected results cannot be guaranteed.

The amount raised in this offering may include investments from company insiders or immediate family members
Officers, directors, executives, and existing owners with a controlling stake in the Company (or their immediate family
members) may make investments in this offering. Any such investments will be included in the raised amount reflected on
the campaign page.

Some of our products are still in the prototype phase and might never be operational products

Developing new products and technologies can be a complex process that involves significant risks and uncertainties.
Technical challenges, design flaws, manufacturing defects, and regulatory hurdles can all impact the success of a product or
service. It is possible that there may never be an operational product or that the product may never be used to engage in
transactions. It is possible that the failure to release the product is the result of a change in business model upon the
Company's making a determination that the business model, or some other factor, will not be in the best interest of the
Company and its stockholders.

Developing new products and technologies entails significant risks and uncertainties

Technical challenges, design flaws, manufacturing defects, and regulatory hurdles can all impact the success of a product or
service. It is possible that there may never be an operational product or that the product may never be used to engage in
transactions. It is possible that the failure to release the product is the result of a change in business model upon the
Company's making a determination that the business model, or some other factor, will not be in the best interest of the
Company and its stockholders.

supply Chain and Logistics Risks

The availability of raw materials, transportation costs, and supply chain disruptions can all impact the ability to
manufacture and distribute products or services, leading to lost revenue or increased costs. Products and services that are
not available when customers need them can lead to lost sales and damage to the brand's reputation.

Quality and Safety of our Product and Service

The quality of a product or service can vary depending on the manufacturer or provider. Poor quality can result in customer
dissatisfaction, returns, and lost revenue. Furthermore, products or services that are not safe can cause harm to customers
and result in liability for the manufacturer or provider. Safety issues can arise from design flaws, manufacturing defects, or
IMproper use.

You are trusting that management will make the best decision for the company
You are trusting in management's discretion. You are buying Securities as a minority holder, and therefore must trust the



management of the Company to make good business decisions that grow your investment.

Insufficient Funds

The Company might not sell enough securities in its contemplated parallel and near-term future offerings to meet its
operating needs and fulfill its plans, in which case it may cease operating and result in a loss on your investment. Even if we
sell all the Securities we are offering now and plan to offer in the near term, the Company may need to raise more funds in
the future, and if unsuccessful in doing so, the Company will fail. Even if we do make a successful offering in the future, the
terms of that offering might result in your investment in the Company being worth less, if later investors have better terms
than those in this offering.

This offering involves “rolling closings,” which may mean that earlier investors may not have the benefit of information
that later investors have.

Once we meet our target amount for this offering, we may request that StartEngine instruct the escrow agent to disburse
offering funds to us. At that point, investors whose subscription agreements have been accepted will become our investors.
All early-stage companies are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, and it is not uncommon for material changes
to be made to the offering terms, or to companies’ businesses, plans, or prospects, sometimes with little or no notice. When
such changes happen during the course of an offering, we must file an amendment to our Form C with the SEC, and
investors whose subscriptions have not yet been accepted will have the right to withdraw their subscriptions and get their
money back. Investors whose subscriptions have already been accepted, however, will already be our investors and will have
no such right.

MNon-accredited investors may not be eligible to participate in a future merger or acquisition of the Company and may lose a
portion of their investment

Investors should be aware that under Rule 145 under the Securities Act of 1933 if they invest in a company through
Regulation Crowdfunding and that company becomes involved in a merger or acquisition, there may be significant
regulatory implications. Under Rule 145, when a company plans to acquire another and offers its shares as part of the deal,
the transaction may be deemed an offer of securities to the target company's investors, because investors who can vote (or
for whom a proxy is voting on their behalf) are making an investment decision regarding the securities they would receive.
All investors, even those with non-voting shares, may have rights with respect to the merger depending on relevant state
laws. This means the acquirer's "offer” to the target's investors would require registration or an exemption from registration
(such as Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or Regulation Crowdfunding), the burden of which can
be substantial. As a result, non-accredited investors may have their shares repurchased rather than receiving shares in the
acquiring company or participating in the acquisition. This may result in investors' shares being repurchased at a value
determined by a third party, which may be at a lesser value than the original purchase price. Investors should consider the
possibility of a cash buyout in such circumstances, which may not be commensurate with the long-term investment they
anticipate.

Our new product could fail to achieve the sales projections we expect

Our growth projections are based on the assumption that with an increased advertising and marketing budget, our products
will be able to gain traction in the marketplace at a faster rate than our current products have. It is possible that our new
products will fail to gain market acceptance for any number of reasons. If the new products fail to achieve significant sales
and acceptance in the marketplace, this could materially and adversely impact the value of your investment.

We face significant market competition

We will compete with larger, established companies that currently have various respective product development programs.
They may have much better financial means and marketing/sales and human resources than us. They may succeed in
developing and marketing competing equivalent products earlier than us, or superior products than those developed by us.
There can be no assurance that competitors will not render our technology or products obsolete or that the products
developed by us will be preferred to any existing or newly developed technologies. It should further be assumed that
competition will intensify.

We are competing against other recreational activities
Although we are a unigue company that caters to a select market, we do compete against other recreational activities. Our
business growth depends on the market interest in the Company over other activities.

We are an early stage company and have not yet generated any profits

The Company operates in a relatively new industry with a lot of competition from both startups and established companies.
As other companies flood the market and reduce potential market share, Investors may be less willing to invest in a
company with a declining market share, which could make it more challenging to fund operations or pursue growth
opportunities in the future.

We are an early stage company operating in a new and highly competitive industry

The Company operates in a relatively new industry with a lot of competition from both startups and established companies.
As other companies flood the market and reduce potential market share, Investors may be less willing to invest in a
company with a declining market share, which could make it more challenging to fund operations or pursue growth
opportunities in the future.



Intense Market Competition

The market in which the company operates may be highly competitive, with established players, emerging startups, and
potential future entrants. The presence of competitors can impact the Company's ability to attract and retain customers,
eain market share, and generate sustainable revenue. Competitors with greater financial resources, brand recognition, or
established customer bases may have a competitive advantage, making it challenging for the company to differentiate itself
and achieve long-term success.

Vulnerability to Economic Conditions

Economic conditions, both globally and within specific markets, can significantly influence the success of early-stage
startups. Downturns or recessions may lead to reduced consumer spending, limited access to capital, and decreased demand
for the company's products or services. Additionally, factors such as inflation, interest rates, and exchange rate fluctuations
can affect the cost of raw materials, operational expenses, and profitability, potentially impacting the company's ability to
operate.

Uncertain Regulatory Landscape

Due to the unestablished nature of the market the business operates within, the potential introduction of new laws or
industry-specific standards can impose additional costs and operational burdens on the Company. Non-compliance or legal
disputes may result in fines, penalties, reputational damage, or even litigation, adversely affecting the Company's financial
condition and ability to operate effectively.

The loss of one or more of our key personnel, or our failure to attract and retain other highly qualified personnel in the
future, could harm our business

Our business depends on our ability to attract, retain, and develop highly skilled and qualified employees. As we grow, we
will need to continue to attract and hire additional employees in various areas, including sales, marketing, design,
development, operations, finance, legal, and human resources. However, we may face competition for qualified candidates,
and we cannot guarantee that we will be successful in recruiting or retaining suitable employees. Additionally, if we make
hiring mistakes or fail to develop and train our emplovees adeguately, it could have a negative impact on our business,
financial condition, or operating results. We may also need to compete with other companies in our industry for highly
skilled and qualified employees. If we are unable to attract and retain the right talent, it may impact our ability to execute
our business plan successfully, which could adversely affect the value of your investment. Furthermore, the economic
environment may affect our ability to hire qualified candidates, and we cannot predict whether we will be able to find the
right employvees when we need them. This would likely adversely impact the value of vour investment.

Our ability to sell our product or service is dependent on outside government regulation which can be subject to change at
any time

Our ability to sell our products is subject to various government regulations, including but not limited to regulations related
to the manufacturing, labeling, distribution, sale, and use of our products. Changes in these regulations, or the enactment
of new regulations, could impact our ability to sell our products or increase our compliance costs. Furthermore, the
regulatory landscape is subject to regular change, and we may face challenges in adapting to such changes, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, or operating results. In addition to government regulations, we may also
be subject to other laws and regulations related to our products, including intellectual property laws, data privacy laws, and
consumer protection laws. Non-compliance with these laws and regulations could result in legal and financial liabilities,
reputational damage, and regulatory fines and penalties, It is also possible that changes in public perception or cultural
norms regarding our products may impact demand for our products, which could adversely affect our business and financial
performance, which may adversely affect yvour investment.

Force majeure events

The Company’s operations may be affected by force majeure events, such as natural disasters, pandemics, acts of terrorism,
war, or other unforeseeable events, which could disrupt the Company's business and operations and adversely affect its
financial condition and operating results.

Risk Related to Unfunded Strategic Investment

The Company has signed a Stock Purchase Agreement (SPA) with Kingdom Aero Industries (KAI) for an investment of up to
$30 million in common stock, including $5 million which were to be invested at the closing , scheduled for May 31, 2025. On
June 12, 2025 the Company notified KAI that it is terminating the SPA effective immediately due to KAI's material breach of
the SPA. It is possible that KAl could make unfounded claims in the future which might lead to the Company incurring
unforeseen legal and other costs.

Economic and market conditions may change.

The Company's business may be affected by economic and market conditions, including changes in interest rates, inflation,
consumer demand, and competition, which could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition, and
operating results.

Force majeure events may occur.

The Company’s operations may be affected by force majeure events, such as natural disasters, pandemics, acts of terrorism,
war, or other unforeseeable events, which could disrupt the Company’s business and operations and adversely atfect its
financial condition and operating results.



Adverse publicity may affect our Company.

The Company’s business may be negatively impacted by adverse publicity, negative reviews, or social media campaigns that
could harm the Company's reputation, business, financial condition, and operating results.

Investing in our Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock involves risk,

Investing in our Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock involves risk. In evaluating us and an investment in our Series Seed 2
Preferred Stock, careful consideration should be given to the following risk factors, in addition to the other information
included in this Offering Circular. Each of these risk factors could materially adversely affect our business, operating results,
or financial condition, as well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock. The
following is a summary of the risk factors that we currently believe make this offering speculative or substantially risky. We
are still subject to all the same risks faced by all companies in our industry, and to which all such companies in the economy
are exposed. These include risks relating to economic downturns, political and economic events, and technological
developments (such as cyber-security). Additionally, early-stage companies are inherently riskier than more developed
companies. You should consider general risks as well as specific risks when deciding whether to invest. The eVTOL aircraft
industry may not continue to develop, eVTOL aircraft may not be adopted by the market, eVTOL aircraft may not be
certified by government authorities or eVTOL aircraft may not be an attractive alternative to existing modes of
transportation, any of which could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations.
eVTOL aircraft involve a complex set of technologies, which we must continue to further develop. However, before eVTOL
aircraft can fly, we must receive requisite certifications and approvals from applicable governmental authorities. There is no
assurance that our design, development, and certification efforts will result in our receiving certification of our aircraft from
the Federal Aviation Administration (the "FAA"). In order to achieve FAA certitication, the performance, reliability and
safety of eVTOL aircraft must be established, none of which can be assured. In particular, there is a risk that we will not
obtain one or more certifications from the FAA that are required for ultimate use of our aircraft, or will experience delays in
receiving one or more of these certifications. Additional challenges to the adoption of our eNTOL aircraft, all of which are
outside of our control, include: market acceptance of eVTOL aircraft; state, federal or municipal regulatory and licensing
requirements for our eVTOL aircraft and operators of our eVTOL aircraft; necessary changes to existing infrastructure to
enable adoption, including installation of necessary charging and other equipment; and public perception regarding the
safety of eVTOL aircraft. There are a number of existing laws, regulations and standards that mav apply to eVTOL aircraft,
including standards that were not originally intended to apply to electric aircraft. The promulgation of additional federal,
state, and local laws and regulations that address eVTOL aircraft more specifically could delay or prevent our ability to
commercially launch our eV TOL aircraft. In addition, depending on the nature of any revised regulations, we may need to
modify our approach to certification, it may be difficult for us to timely comply with such regulations, and we may not be
able to timely achieve FAA certification for our aircraft. If the applicable FAA regulations are substantially changed or new
regulations are adopted, we may need to modify the design of our aircraft to comply with the new regulations, which could
cause us to incur significant expenses and scheduling delays in commercializing our aircraft, which could adversely affect
our prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, there can be no assurance that the
market will accept eVTOL aircraft, that we will be able to execute our business strategy, or that our eVTOL aircraft will
obtain the necessary government approvals or be successful in the market. There may be heightened public skepticism of
this nascent technology and its adopters. In particular, there could be negative public perception surrounding eVTOL
aircraft, including the overall safety and the potential for injuries or death occurring as a result of accidents involving
eVTOL aircraft, regardless of whether any such safety incidents occur involving us. Any of the foregoing risks and
challenges could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Prospective purchasers or lessees of our aircraft may be unable to obtain the required license to personally operate our
aircraft.

Under current regulations, operators of our aircraft will be required to hold a valid Airline Transport Pilot's license with
advanced training requirements. The issuance of such a pilot license is subject to the approval and discretion of the FAA
and depends upon meeting its established criteria. The difficulty and/or inability or unwillingness of consumers to obtain
the requisite licensing could adversely impact our projected future sales. It is anticipated that the FAA will adopt a simpler
pilots’ license requirement which will allow a broader group of consumers to operate a eVTOL but this may not happen or it
may happen over a long period of time.

The market for urban air mobility vehicles has not been established with precision, is still emerging and may not achieve
the growth potential we expect or may grow more slowly than expected.

The urban air mobility vehicle ("UAM") market is still emerging and has not been established with precision. It is uncertain
to what extent market acceptance will grow, if at all. This market is new, rapidly evolving, characterized by rapidly changing
technologies, significant competition, evolving government regulation and industry standards, new aircraft and changing
consumer demands and behaviors. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on regulatory approval and availability of
eVTOL technology, as well as the willingness of commuters to widely adopt air mobility as an alternative to ground
transportation. If the public does not perceive UAM as beneficial, or chooses not to adopt UAM, the market for our products
may not develop, may develop more slowly than we expect or may not achieve the growth potential we expect. As a result,
the number of potential purchasers of our vehicles cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty, and we cannot assure
you that we will be able to operate in a profitable manner. Any of the foregoing could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.



There may be reluctance by consumers to adopt this new form of mobility, or unwillingness to pay our projected prices.
Our growth is highly dependent upon consumer adoption of an entirely new form of mobility offered by eVTOL aircraft and
the UAM market. If consumers do not adopt this new form of mobility or are not willing to pay the prices we project for our
products, our business may never materialize.

There may be reluctance by consumers to adopt this new form of mobility, or unwillingness to pay our projected prices.
Our growth is highly dependent upon consumer adoption of an entirely new form of mobility offered by eVTOL aircraft and
the UAM market. If consumers do not adopt this new form of mobility or are not willing to pay the prices we project for our
products, our business may never materialize.

Certain localities may reject eVTOL operations due to a perceived risk of safety or burden on local communities from eVTOL
operations.

The safety record of our aircraft will depend on factors external to the vehicle and the understanding of which is currently
being constructed, such as the integration of the use of our aircraft with other aircraft operating in the same urban airspace.
If the prediction of important characteristics of the system, such as route placement, vehicle separation and communication
protocols, is not accurate, or if these considerations are not properly taken into account, it could materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. The approval of local authorities of the operation of the eVTOLs
will be influenced by the public opinion about the burdens imposed by the vehicle operations. Local populations, being
potential users of our aircraft or not, may perceive the external noise of the vehicles, visual pollution and changes in the
neighborhood provoked by aircraft operations to be unreasonable with respect to the benefits brought by the vehicles in
terms of traffic congestion reduction and decrease in travel times. If that is the case, the demand for the vehicles and our
operations may be negatively affected.

Crashes, accidents, or incidents of eVTOL aircraft involving us or our competitors could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Test flying prototype aircraft is inherently risky, and crashes, accidents or incidents involving our aircraft are possible. Any
such occurrence involving our aircraft may negatively impact our development, testing and certification efforts, and could
result in re-design, certification delay and/or postponements or delays to our product launch. In addition, the operation of
aircraft is subject to various risks, and we expect demand for our products to be impacted by accidents or other safety issues
regardless of whether such accidents or issues involve our aircraft. Such accidents or incidents could also have a material
impact on our ability to obtain FAA certification for our aircraft, or to obtain such certification in a timely manner. Such
events could impact confidence in a particular aircraft type or the air transportation services industry as a whole,
particularly if such accidents or disasters are due to a safety issue. We believe that regulators and the general public are still
forming their opinions about the safety and utility of UAM, their advanced flight control software capabilities and their
operation in and around urban areas. An accident or incident involving either our aircraft or a competitor's aircraft while
these opinions are being formed, could have a disproportionate impact on the longer-term view of the emerging UAM
market. We are at risk of adverse publicity stemming from any public incident involving our company, our people, our
brand, or other companies in our industry. If our aircraft, or other types of aircraft are involved in a public incident,
accident, cyberattack or regulatory enforcement action, we could be exposed to significant reputational harm and potential
legal liability. The insurance we carry may be inapplicable or inadequate to cover any such matter. If our insurance is
inapplicable or inadequate, we may be forced to bear substantial losses. In addition, any such incident could create an
adverse public perception, which could harm our reputation, and result in consumers being reluctant to purchase our
aircraft, which could adversely impact our business, results of operations, financial conditions, and prospects.

We may be unable to obtain regulatory approvals required to manufacture and commercialize our aircraft.

Our ability to manufacture and sell our product depends on outside government regulation such as the FAA (Federal
Aviation Administration), FTC (Federal Trade Commission), U.5. Department of Transportation, Federal Travel Regulations,
and other relevant government laws and regulations and requires certain regulatory authorizations and certifications. While
we anticipate being able to obtain the required authorizations and certifications, we may be unable to do so on the timeline
we project or at all. If we fail to obtain any of the required authorizations or certificates, or to do so in a timely manner, or
any of these authorizations or certificates are modified, suspended, or revoked after we obtain them, we may be unable to
launch product sales or do so on the timelines we project, which may have an adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. In addition, if any changes to such laws and regulations make it too costly or otherwise
make it unfeasible for us to manufacture and sell our products, your investment in us would be affected. Our business model
is contingent on our aircraft being classified as "Light Sport Aircraft” ("LSA") under new proposed FAA regulations. To
achieve LSA classification, our aircraft must satisfy specific requirements outlined by the FAA. Failure to meet these strict
requirements could result in our aircraft not being eligible for LSA classification. If our aircraft do not qualify as LSAs due to
non-compliance with FAA regulations, our operations, revenue, and future prospects may be significantly impacted. We
may face restrictions on our target market, reduced customer demand, and increased compliance expenses. Furthermore,
being unable to classify as an LSA could subject us to more stringent regulations, leading to potential delays and higher
costs in obtaining necessary certifications. Any inability to meet the required criteria may have adverse effects on our
financial condition and operational capabilities.

[f current airspace regulations are not modified to increase air traffic capacity, our business could be subject to considerable
capacity limitations.
A failure to increase air traffic capacity in the airspace serving our target markets could have a material adverse effect on



our business. Weaknesses in the National Airspace System and the Air Traffic Control ("ATC") system, such as outdated
procedures and technologies, could result in capacity constraints prohibiting or limiting the ability of our customers to
operate our aircraft. While our aircraft is designed to operate in the National Airspace System under existing rules, our
business at scale will likely require airspace allocation for UAM operations and could result in regulatory changes. Our
inability to obtain sufficient access to the National Airspace System or to comply with any regulatory changes could
increase our costs of our aircraft, which could reduce demand and have an adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Our competitors may commercialize their technology before us

We believe that the primary sources of competition for our service are ground-based mobility solutions, eVTOL facilitated
aerial ridesharing services, and other eVTOL developers/operators. If new or existing aerospace companies launch
competing solutions in the markets in which we intend to sell our products, or obtain large-scale capital investment, we
may face increased competition. Many of our current and potential competitors are larger and have substantially greater
resources than we have and expect to have in the future, which may allow them to devote greater resources to the
development, certification and marketing of their products and services or to offer lower prices. Our competitors may also
establish strategic relationships amongst themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources and
offerings. Some have more experience in the aerospace industry than we have, and foreign competitors could benefit from
subsidies or other protective measures offered by their home countries. Any of the foregoing could harm our business,
tinancial condition, operating results, and prospects.

Our aircraft may fail to achieve performance expectations.
Our aircraft may fail to achieve our performance expectations. For example, our aircraft may have a higher noise profile or
have shorter maximum range than we estimate, Our aircraft also use a substantial amount of software code to operate.

Software products are inherently complex and often contain defects and errors when first introduced.

We may incur significant costs to address any performance issues, or if not detected or addressed, such issues could
negatively impact our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects. While we have performed extensive
testing, in some instances we are still relying on projections and models to validate the expected performance of our
aircraft. To date, we have been unable to validate the performance of our aircraft over the expected lifetime of the aircraft.
We expect to introduce new and additional features and capabilities to the aircraft over time. We may be unable to develop
or certify these upgrades in a timely manner or at all, which may have an adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

We may not be able to produce aircraft in the volumes and on the timelines we project

There are significant challenges associated with producing aircraft in the volumes that we are projecting. As we are in
development stage, we have not vet established a manufacturing facility or manufacturing processes. The aerospace
industry has traditionally been characterized by significant barriers to entry, including large capital requirements,
investment costs of designing and manufacturing aircraft, long lead times to bring aircraft to market, the need for
specialized design and development expertise, extensive regulatory requirements, the challenge of establishing a brand
name and image and the need to establish maintenance and service locations. As a future manufacturer of electric aircraft,
we will face a variety of added barriers to entry including additional costs of developing and producing an electric
powertrain, regulations associated with the transport of batteries and unproven customer demand for a fully electric UAM
eVTOL, The timing of our production ramp depends upon finalizing certain aspects of the design, engineering, component
procurement, testing, build out, and manufacturing plans in a timely manner and upon our ability to execute these plans
within the current timeline. It also depends on being able to obtain timely Production Certification from the FAA and
sufficient statfing to support production objectives. If we are unable to obtain the tunds required on the timeline that we
anticipate, our plans for building our manufacturing plants could be delayed. If any of the foregoing risks occurs, it could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects.

Our financial statements include a going concern note.

We may not have enough funds to sustain the business until it becomes profitable. Even if we raise funds through this
offering, we may not accurately anticipate how quickly we may use the funds and whether these funds are sufficient to bring
the business to profitability.

Our financial statements include a going concern note.

We may not have enough funds to sustain the business until it becomes profitable. Even if we raise funds through this
offering, we may not accurately anticipate how quickly we may use the funds and whether these funds are sufficient to bring
the business to profitabilivy.

Our intellectual property could be unenforceable or ineffective.

One of our most valuable assets is our intellectual property. We have two design patents pending and one approved and
published, in addition to trademarks, copyrights, internet domain names, and trade secrets (including issued Patent No. US
D978,717 5). Competitors may misappropriate or violate the rights owned by us. We intend to continue to protect our
intellectual property portfolio from such violations. It is important to note that unforeseeable costs associated with such
practices may be costly, We also own several trademarks and domain names. Companies, organizations, or individuals,
including competitors, may hold or obtain patents, trademarks, or other proprietary rights that would prevent, limit, or



interfere with our ability to market or sell our products, which would make it more difficult for us to operate our business.
These third parties may have applied for, been granted, or obtained patents that relate to intellectual property, which
competes with our intellectual property or technology. This may require us to develop or obtain alternative technology, or
obtain appropriate licenses under these patents, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Such a
circumstance may result in us having to significantly increase development efforts and resources to redesign our
technology. There is a risk that our means of protecting our intellectual property rights may not be adequate, and
weaknesses or failures in this area could adversely affect our business or reputation, financial condition, and/or operating
results. From time to time, we may receive communications from holders of patents or trademarks regarding their
proprietary rights. Companies holding patents or other intellectual property rights may bring suits alleging infringement of
such rights. If we are determined to have infringed upon a third party's intellectual property rights, we may be required to
cease selling one or more of our products, pay substantial damages, seek a license from the holder of the infringed
intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, and/or establish and maintain
alternative branding for our business. We may also need to file lawsuits to protect our intellectual property rights from
infringement from third parties, which could be expensive, time consuming, and distract management's attention from our
core operations,

We depend on certain key personnel and must attract and retain additional talent.

Our future success depends on the efforts of key personnel and consultants. As we grow, we may need to attract and hire
additional employees in sales, marketing, design, development, operations, finance, legal, human resources, and other
areas. Depending on the economic environment and our performance, we may not be able to locate or attract qualified
individuals for such positions when we need them. We may also make hiring mistakes, which can be costly in terms of
resources spent in recruiting, hiring, and investing in the incorrect individual and in the time delay in locating the right
employee fit. If we are unable to attract, hire and retain the right talent or make too many hiring mistakes, it is likely that
our business will suffer from not having the right employees in the right positions at the right time. This would likely
adversely impact the value of your investment.

If we cannot raise sufficient funds, we may not succeed.

Even if the maximum amount is raised in this offering, we may need additional funds in the future in order to grow, and if
we cannot raise those funds for whatever reason, including reasons outside our control, such as another significant
downturn in the economy, we may not survive.

Mo public trading market currently exists for our Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock.

There is no public market for our Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock. Until our Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock are listed on an
exchange, if ever, you mayv not sell your Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock unless the buyer meets the applicable suitability and
minimum purchase standards. Therefore, it will be difficult for vou to sell your Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock promptly or at
all. If vou are able to sell your Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock, you may have to sell them at a substantial discount to the price
you paid for the Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock.

Terms of subsequent financings may adversely impact yvour investment.

Even if we are successful in this offering, we may need to engage in common equity, debt or preferred stock financings in
the future. Your rights and the value of your investment in the Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock could be reduced. Interest on
debt securities could increase costs and negatively impact operating results. Preferred stock could be issued in series from
time to time with such designations, rights, preferences, and limitations as needed to raise capital. The terms of preferred
stock could be more advantageous to those investors than to the holders of Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock. In addition, if we
need to raise more equity capital from the sale of equity securities, institutional or other investors may negotiate terms at
least as, and possibly more, tavorable than the terms of your investment.

Holders of our Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock have no voting rights.

Subject to applicable law and, except as mentioned in our organizational documents, the holders of Series Seed 2 Preferred
Stock have no voting rights, management or control rights or influence or vote on any corporate matters, and the voting
stockholders and directors may take actions of which a majority of the holders of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock disapprove.
In assessing the risks and rewards of an investment in the Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock, investors must be aware that they
are relying solely on the good faith, judgment, and ability of our directors, officers, employees, and holders of our voting
shares, to make appropriate decisions in respect to our management, and the holders of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock will be
subject to the decisions of our directors, officers, employees, and holders of our voting shares.

We are not likely to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain any future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business. Accordingly, we do
not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future but will review this policy as circumstances dictate, The
subscription agreement has a forum selection provision that requires disputes be resolved in state or federal courts in the
State of Florida, regardless of convenience or cost to you, the investor. In order to invest in this offering, investors agree to
resolve disputes arising under the subscription agreement in state or federal courts located in the State of Florida, for the
purpose of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of or based upon the agreement. Section 22 of the Securities Act
creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by
the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. We believe that the exclusive forum provision applies to claims
arising under the Securities Act, but there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such a provision in this



context. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or
liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision will
not apply to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the
federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. You will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities
laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. This forum selection provision may limit your ability to obtain a favorable
judicial forum for disputes with us. Although we believe the provision benefits us by limiting our litigation costs, to the
extent it is enforceable, the forum selection provision may limit investors’ ability to bring claims in judicial forums that they
find favorable to such disputes, may increase investors' costs of bringing suit and may discourage lawsuits with respect to
such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find the provision inapplicable to, or unenforceable in an action, we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, or results of operations.

Investors in this offering may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to claims arising under the subscription agreement,
which could result in less favorable outcomes to the plaintiff(s) in any action under the agreement.

Investors in this offering will be bound by the subscription agreement, which includes a provision under which investors
waive the right to a jury trial of any claim they may have against the company arising out of or relating to the agreement,
including any claims made under the federal securities laws. By signing the agreement, the investor warrants that the
investor has reviewed this waiver with his or her legal counsel, and knowingly and voluntarily waives the investor's jury trial
rights following consultation with the investor’'s legal counsel. If we opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, a
court would determine whether the waiver was enforceable based on the facts and circumstances of that case in accordance
with the applicable state and federal law. To our knowledge, the enforceability of a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver
in connection with claims arising under the federal securities laws has not been finally adjudicated by a federal court.
However, we believe that a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision is generally enforceable, including under the
laws of the State of Florida, which governs the agreement, by a federal or state court in the State of Florida. In determining
whether to enforce a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision, courts will generally consider whether the visibility
of the jury trial waiver provision within the agreement is sufficiently prominent such that a party knowingly, intelligently,
and voluntarily waived the right to a jury trial. We believe that this is the case with respect to the subscription agreement.
You should consult legal counsel regarding the jury waiver provision before entering into the subscription agreement.

Foreign securities laws may govern your investment.

Prior to accepting any subscriptions from residents of foreign jurisdictions, we may consult with local counsel to ensure we
accept any such subscription in compliance with local law. If, however, we accept any subscriptions and fail to comply with
local law, it may subject us to regulatory actions in such foreign jurisdictions.

You must keep records of your investment for tax purposes.

As with all investments in securities, if you sell the Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock, vou will probably need to pay tax on the
long- or short-term capital gains that you realize if you make a profit and record any loss to apply it to other taxable
income. If vou do not have a regular brokerage account, or your regular broker will not hold the Series Seed 2 Preferred
Stock for you (and many brokers refuse to hold Regulation A securities for their customers) there will be nobody keeping
records for yvou for tax purposes and you will have to keep your own records, and calculate the gain on any sales of the stock
you sell. If you fail to keep accurate records or accurately calculate any gain on any sales of the stock, you may be subject to
tax audits and penalties.

We rely on third parties to provide services essential to the success of our business.

We rely and shall rely on third parties to provide a variety of essential business functions for us, including software
development, design, and manufacturing. It is possible that some of these third parties will fail to perform their services or
will perform them in an unacceptable manner, which could materially damage our brand, business, prospects, financial
condition, and operating results.

We depend on technology and advanced information systems, which may fail or be subject to disruption.

There are no assurances that our software and website will be uninterrupted or fully secure, or that users will be willing to
access, adopt, and use our website and software. Further, our software systems may be the target of malicious attacks
seeking to identify and exploit weaknesses in our software. Cyber-attacks may target vendors, customers or other third
parties, or the communication infrastructure on which they depend. Despite good faith efforts by us to mitigate the risks
associated with cyber-attacks through various security protocols, an attack or a breach of security could result in a loss and
theft of private data, violation of applicable privacy and other laws, significant legal and financial exposure, damage to
reputation, and a loss of confidence in security measures, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our
business. The integrity, reliability, and operational performance of our information technology ('IT") infrastructure are
critical to our operations. Our IT infrastructure may be damaged or interrupted by increases in usage, human error,
unauthorized access, natural hazards or disasters, or similarly disruptive events. Furthermore, our systems may be unable to
support a significant increase in traffic or increase in user numbers, whether as a result of organic or inorganic growth of
the business. While we have taken several measures to safeguard against a failure of our IT infrastructure, or the
telecommunications and/or other third-party infrastructure on which such infrastructure relies, could lead to significant
costs and disruptions that could reduce revenue, damage our reputation, and have a materially adverse effect on our
operations, financial performance, and prospects. We intend to institute business continuity procedures and security
measures to protect against network or IT failure or disruption. However, these procedures and measures may not be



effective against all forms of disruptions and may not ensure that we are able to carry on our business. Should these
measures and protections fail to operate as intended or at all, they may not prevent a material disruption to our operations,
and the consequence of such would have a materially adverse effect on our financial performance and prospects. We do not
ouarantee that the use of applications and systems designed for system security will effectively counter evolving security
risks or address the security concerns of existing and potential users. Any failures in our security measures could have a
materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, our controls may not be
effective in detecting or preventing any intrusion or other security breaches, or safeguarding against sabotage, hackers,
viruses, and other forms of cybercrime. Any failure in these protections could harm our reputation and have a materially
adverse effect on our operations, financial performance, and prospects. We store investor, customer, and vendor personal
and other sensitive information/digital data. Any accidental or willful security breaches or other unauthorized access could
cause the theft and criminal use of this data and/or theft and criminal use of our information. Security breaches or
unauthorized access to confidential information could also expose us to liability related to the loss of the information, time-
consuming and expensive litigation, and negative publicity. If security measures are breached because of third-party action,
employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, or if design flaws in our software are exposed and exploited, and, as a result, a
third party obtains unauthorized access to any of our investor, customer or vendor data, our relationships with our
investors, customers, vendors, and/or other third parties will be severely damaged, and we could incur significant liability.
Since techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not
recognized until they are launched against a target, we and any third-party hosting facility that we may use, may be unable
to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures.

Procuring, manufacturing, and selling our products internationally may present risks.

Certain components of our aircraft may be procured and/or manufactured internationally. We also may sell our aircraft
internationally. There are many risks associated with international business. These risks include, but are not limited to,
language barriers, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, political and economic instability, regulatory compliance
difficulties, problems enforcing agreements, and greater exposure of our intellectual property to markets where a high
probability of unlawful appropriation may occur. Failure to successfully mitigate any of these potential risks could damage
our business. In addition, there is currently a risk that a future coronavirus outbreak or another global pandemic could
disrupt parts supply. We intend to mitigate this risk through inventory and supply chain management practices. We are
required to comply with all applicable domestic and foreign export control laws, including the Export Administration
Regulations. In addition, we may be subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and international counterparts that
generally bar bribes or unreasonable gifts for foreign governments and officials. Violation of any of these laws or
regulations could result in significant sanctions, which could reduce our future revenue and net income.

Natural disasters and other events beyvond our control could materially adversely affect us.

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may cause damage or disruption to our operations, international commerce,
and the global economy, and thus could have a strong negative effect on us. Our business operations are subject to
interruption by natural disasters, fire, power shortages, pandemics, and other events beyond our control. Although we
maintain crisis management and disaster response plans, such events could make it difficult or impossible for us to deliver
our services to our customers and could decrease demand for our services.

If we are unable to adequately control the costs associated with operating our business, our business, financial condition,
operating results, and prospects will suffer.

[f we are unable to maintain a sufficiently low level of costs for design, manufacturing, regulatory approval, marketing,
selling, and distributing our products relative to their selling prices, our operating results, gross margins, business, and
prospects could be materially and adversely impacted. Many of the factors that impact on our operating costs are beyond
our control. If we are unable to keep our operating costs aligned with the level of revenues we generate, our operating
results, business and prospects will be harmed.

This Offering is being conducted on a "best efforts” basis and does not require a minimum amount to be raised.

We are offering Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock in the amount of up to $1,783,142.48 in this offering but may sell much less.
This offering is being conducted on a "best efforts” basis and does not require a minimum amount to be raised. If we are not
able to raise sufficient funds, we may not be able to fund our operations as planned, and our growth opportunities may be
materially adversely affected. This could increase the likelihood that an investor may lose their entire investment.



Ownership and Capital Structure; Rights of the Securities

Ownership
The following table sets forth information regarding beneficial ownership of the company’s holders of 20% or more of any
class of voting securities as of the date of this Offering Statement filing.

Stockholder Name[Number of Securities Owned Type of Security Owned|Percentage
Doron Merdinger 49,585,000 Common Stock
Doron Merdinger |1,000,000 Class B Common Stock

69.232%

The Company's Securities

The Company has authorized Common Stock, Class A Common Stock, Class B Common Stock, Series Seed-1 Preferred
Stock, and Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock. As part of the Regulation Crowdfunding raise, the Company will be offering up to
602,413 of Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock.

Common Stock
The amount of security authorized is 65,000,000 with a total of 57,186,044 outstanding.
Voting Rights

The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held at all meetings of stockholders;
unless required by law, no cumulative voting.

Material Rights

The amount of security authorized is 65,000,000, with a total of 57,186,044 shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis
(including 2,895,000 shares to be issued pursuant to outstanding stock options awarded under the Company’s equity
incentive plan).

Class A Common Stock

The amount of security authorized is 37,000,000 with a total of 8,406,377 outstanding.
Voting Rights

There are no voting rights associated with Class A Common Stock.
Material Rights

The amount of security authorized is 37,000,000, with a total of 8,406,377 outstanding on a fully diluted basis, including
8,285,726 shares to be issued pursuant to outstanding stock options awarded under the Company's 2022 stock option plan,
90,510 reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding warrants. Series Seed 1 and Series Seed 2 stock could convert into

2,501,218 and 1,554,565 shares respectively.
Class B Common Stock
The amount of security authorized is 10,000,000 with a total of 1,000,000 outstanding.
Voting Rights
Each holder of shares of Class B Common Stock is entitled to ten (10) votes for each share of Class B Common Stock.
Material Rights
There are no material rights associated with Class B Common Stock.
Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock
The amount of security authorized is 2,600,000 with a total of 2,501,218 outstanding.
Voting Rights

The Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock are non-voting except as may be required by applicable law; unless required by law, no
cumulative voting.

Material Rights

The Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock are non-voting except as may be required by applicable law; unless required by law, no



cumulative voting.

The Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock have preference, together with the Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock, in any distribution of
assets in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, in an amount
reflecting the original issue price of their shares.

In the event dividends are paid on any share of Class A Common Stock, an additional dividend shall be paid with respect to
all outstanding shares of Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock and Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock in an amount equal per share {on
an as-if-converted to Class A Common Stock basis) to the amount paid or set aside for each share of Class A Common Stock.
The aforesaid shall not, however, apply to (i) a dividend payable in Class A Common Stock, or (ii) the acquisition of shares of
any Class A Common Stock in exchange for shares of any other Class A Common Stock.

Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock

The amount of security authorized is 20,400,000 with a total of 1,554,565 outstanding.
Voting Rights

There are no voting rights associated with Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock.
Material Rights

The Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock being offered herein do not offer any voting rights, unless required by law. Further, the
number of authorized shares of Class A Common Stock (in which the Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock are convertible) may be
increased or decreased by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes represented by all outstanding shares
of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote, irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the Delaware General
Corporation Law.

Material Rights
Dilution Notice

Please note that in the unlikely event that the KAI transaction described above will close, and assuming that its terms will
not change then, over the next fifteen (15) months, KAI will invest 330 million (as the Company meets the payment
milestones stipulated in the SPA) and become a 40% owner of the Company. On June 12, 2025 the Company notified KAI
that it is terminating the SPA effective immediately due to failure of KAI to fund the $5 million due at closing, which
constitutes a material breach of the SPA.The Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock have preference, together with the Series Seed 1
Preferred Stock, in any distribution of assets in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding
up of the Company, in an amount reflecting the original issue price of their shares.

In the event dividends are paid on any share of Class A Common Stock, an additional dividend shall be paid with respect to
all outstanding shares of Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock and Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock in an amount equal per share (on
an as-if-converted to Class A Common Stock basis) to the amount paid or set aside for each share of Class A Common Stock.
The aforesaid shall not, however, apply to (i) a dividend payable in Class A Common Stock, or (ii) the acquisition of shares of
any Class A Common Stock in exchange for shares of any other Class A Common Stock.

Voting Rights of Securities Sold in this Offering

The Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock being offered herein do not offer any voting rights, unless required by law. Further, the
number of authorized shares of Class A Common Stock (the "Class A Common Stock™) (into which the Series Seed 2
Preferred Stock are convertible) may be increased or decreased by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
votes represented by all outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote, irrespective of the provisions
of Section 242(b)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

As a condition to the purchase of the Securities, upon the issuance of the Securities the Subscriber agrees that the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (the "CEQ"), or his or her successor, is appointed as the Subscriber’s true and lawful proxy
and attorney, with the power to act alone and with full power of substitution, to, consistent with this instrument and on
behalf of the Subscriber, (i) vote all Securities, at any time and from time, on any matter for which approval of the holders of
the Company's stock is sought or upon which such holders are otherwise entitled to vote or consent by written consent,

(ii) give and receive notices and communications, (iii) execute any instrument or document that the CEO determines is
necessary or appropriate in the exercise of its authority under this instrument, and (iv) take all actions necessary or
appropriate in the judgment of the CEO for the accomplishment of the foregoing. The proxy and power granted by the
subscriber pursuant to this Section are coupled with an interest. Such proxy and power will be irrevocable. The proxy and
power, 50 long as the Subscriber is an individual, will survive the death, incompetency, and disability of the Subscriber and,
50 long as the Subscriber is an entity, will survive the merger or reorganization of the Subscriber or any other entity holding
the Securities. However, the Proxy will terminate upon the closing of a firm commitment underwritten public offering
pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 covering the offer and sale of Common
stock or the effectiveness of a registration statement under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 covering the Common



Stock. The provisions of this Section 24 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Subscription Agreement.

Dividend, Liquidation Preference, and Conversion Rights are detailed in Exhibit F of this offering document.

What it means to be a minority holder

As a minority holder of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock of this offering, you have granted your votes by proxy to the CEQ of
the Company. Even if you were to receive control of vour voting rights, as a minority holder, you would have limited rights
with regards to the corporate actions of the Company, including additional issuances of securities, company repurchases of
securities, a sale of the company or its significant assets, or company transactions with related parties. Further, investors in
this offering may have rights less than those of other investors and would have limited influence on the corporate actions of
the Company.

Dilution

Investors should understand the potential for dilution. The investor's stake in a company could be diluted due to the
Company issuing additional shares. In other words, when the Company issues more shares, the percentage of the Company
that yvou own will go down, even though the value of the Company may go up. You will own a smaller piece of a larger
company. This increase in the number of shares outstanding could result from a stock offering (such as an initial public
offering, another crowdfunding round, a venture capital round, or angel investment), employees exercising stock options, or
by conversion of certain instruments (e.g. convertible bonds, preferred shares or warrants) into stock. If the Company
decides to issue more shares, an investor could experience value dilution, with each share being worth less than before, and
control dilution, with the total percentage an investor owns being less than before. There may also be earnings dilution,
with a reduction in the amount earned per share (though this typically occurs only if the Company offers dividends, and
most early-stage companies are unlikely to offer dividends, preferring to invest any earnings into the Company).

The Company is contemplating an additional offering through Regulation A. This has the potential to further dilute
investors” stake in the Company. Please see the Liquidity and Capital section.

Transferahility of securities

For a year, the securities can only be resold:
* InanlPO,;
e To the company;
e Toan accredited investor; and

* Toa member of the family of the purchaser or the equivalent, to a trust controlled by the purchaser, to a trust created
for the benefit of a member of the family of the purchaser or the equivalent, or in connection with the death or divorce
of the purchaser or other similar circumstance.

Recent Offerings of Securities

We have made the following issuances of securities within the last three years:

* Name: Common Stock
Type of security sold: Equity
Final amount sold: $1,030,180.00
Number of Securities Sold: 4,645,592
Use of proceeds: R&D and Marketing
Date: April 29, 2022
Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

* Name: Common Stock
Type of security sold: Equity
Final amount sold: $0.00
Number of Securities Sold: 84,536
Use of proceeds: StartEngine Equity Fee from Reg CF
Date: April 29, 2022
Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

* Name: Common Stock
Type of security sold: Equity
Final amount sold: $0.00
Number of Securities Sold: 5,415,000



Use of proceeds: Incentive Plan
Date: January 01, 2022
Offering exemption relied upon: Section 4{a)(2)

Name: Class A Common 5tock

Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $0.00

Number of Securities Sold: 3,304,000

Use of proceeds: New Employee Option Plan
Date: July 01, 2022

Offering exemption relied upon: Section 4(a)(2)

Name: Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock

Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $2,353,973.84

Number of Securities Sold: 1,274,441

Use of proceeds: R&D

Date: March 04, 2023

Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

Name: Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock

Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $0.00

Number of Securities Sold: 28,475

Use of proceeds: StartEngine Equity Fee from Reg CF
Date: March (04, 2023

Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

Name: Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock
Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $2,248,112.56
Number of Securities Sold: 1,115,440
Use of proceeds: R&D

Date: December 11, 2023

Offering exemption relied upon: 506(b)

Name: Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock

Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $0.00

Number of Securities Sold: 27,194

Use of proceeds: StartEngine Equity Fee from Reg CF
Date: December 11, 2023

Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

Mame: Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock

Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $1,789,056.56

Number of Securities Sold: 914,674

Use of proceeds: R&D

Date: October 15, 2024

Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

Name: Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock

Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $0.00

Number of Securities Sold: 28,475

Use of proceeds: StartEngine Equity Fee from Reg CF
Date: October 15, 2024

Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

Name: Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock
Type of security sold: Equity

Final amount sold: $0.00

Number of Securities Sold: 18,132



Use of proceeds: StartEngine Equity Fee from Reg CF
Date: December 04, 2024
Oftering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

= Name: Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock
Type of security sold: Equity
Final amount sold: $1,327,371.00
Number of Securities Sold: 621,759
Use of proceeds: R&D
Date: March 27, 2025

Offering exemption relied upon: Regulation CF

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Financial Condition

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of our operations together with
our financial statements and related notes appearing at the end of this Offering Memorandum. This discussion contains
forward-looking statements reflecting our current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the
timing of events may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements due to a number of factors,
including those discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum.

Results of Operations

Circumstances which led to the performance of financial statements:

We were organized as Doroni Aerospace LLC, a Florida limited liability company in May 2018, and converted into a

Delaware corporation on October 6, 2021, Our offices are located in Pompano Beach, Florida. We have developed a practical,
efficient, and cost-effective electric vertical takeoff and landing aircraft ("eVTOL") mobility platform.

2024 Annual Period Compared to 2023 Annual Period Revenue, Cost of Goods Sold, and Gross Margin

For the year ended December 31, 2024 (the 2024 Annual Period”) and the year ended December 31, 2024 (the "2023 Annual
Period™) we had no revenue, no cost of goods sold and no gross profit or loss.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses for the 2024 Annual Period were $3,586,197 compared to $3,324,944 for the 2023 Annual Period
representing an increase of $261,253.. The primary driver of the increase were Stock based compensation expenses which
increased by $633,648 as well as warrants in the amount of 342,659 that were i1ssued in consideration for services rendered ,
while all other expenses payable in cash decreased by $415,054 ,as management aimed to preserve cash by issuing employee
stock options and warrants in lieu thereof. More specifically research and development expenses decreased by $87,777 while
general and administrative expenses increased by $349,030 due to the non-cash expenses described above.

Loss From Operations

Our loss from operations was $3,586,197 for the 2024 Annual Period, compared to $3,324,944 for the 2023 Annual Period.
Net Loss

Our net loss for the 2024 Annual Period was $3,586,103, compared to a net loss of 3,399,673, for the 2023 Annual Period.
Historical results and cash flows:

The Company is currently in the pre-revenues research and development stage.

We expect to continue to generate negative cash flow from operations and to fund our operations from sale of equity
securities and/or debt. Assuming we can raise the funds needed to operate and grow the business as planned, we estimate
that we will start delivering the H1-X to customers in 2027 and we expect to start generating positive cash flows from
operations in 2028, Our estimates are based on various assumptions, including without limitation, our ability to obtain
financing. We believe that our estimates are reasonable but there is no assurance that we will be able to raise the necessary
funds and that our estimates regarding our cash flows from operations and free cash flow will come to fruition.

Liquidity and Capital Resources



What capital resources are currently available to the Company? (Cash on hand, existing lines of credit, shareholder loans,
etc...)

As of June 3, 2025, we had $334,987 in cash.

How do the funds of this campaign factor into your financial resources? (Are these funds critical to your company
operations? Or do you have other funds or capital resources available?)

Our current cash position provides approximately two months runway based on our current monthly cash outlays and
assuming no additional funding will be received by the Company.

We are also pursuing other potential sources of funding including possible offering Reg-A as well as a possible public listing
of equity securities as well as a strategic transaction. The amounts of cash we expect to raise from this crowdfunding
campaign are relative small compared to our overall needs and we therefore believe the funds of this campaign are not
critical to our company operations

Are the funds from this campaign necessary to the viability of the company? (Of the total funds that vour company has, how
much of that will be made up of funds raised from the crowdfunding campaign?)

We believe the funds from this campaign are not necessary for the viability of the Company. Of the total funds that we
expect to raise, a small portion will be made up of funds raised from the crowdfunding campaign, even if it raises its
maximum funding goal.

How long will you be able to operate the company if you raise your minimum? What expenses is this estimate based on?

If we raise the minimum amount of $9,998.88 our runway will not change and will approximately two months .

How long will you be able to operate the company if you raise your maximum funding goal?

Since the amount that we are raising in this crowdfunding campaign is relatively small compared to our overall needs the
answer to this question depends on our success in raising additional funds from other sources and if we decide to increase
the level of monthly spend.

At the current level of monthly spend of approximately $170,000, if we raise the maximum funding goal, we will be able to
operate the company for approximately 11 months {(assuming no additional funding will be received by the Company)

If we are successful in raising the additional funds that we need to expedite the development of the H1-X, it is likely that we
will increase the monthly spend of the company on the development of the H1-X and therefore runways may vary
accordingly.

We expect to incur substantial additional research and development costs, administrative expenses to support its research
and development operations, and marketing expenses to launch the sale of any commercialized product that may be
developed. There can be no assurance that our activities will lead to the development of commercially viable products. Our
operations to date have consumed substantial amounts of cash. The negative cash flow from operations is expected to
continue in the foreseeable future.

We believe it will require substantial additional funds to deploy and commercialize the Hl X. Our cash requirements may
vary materially from those now planned, depending upon outcomes related to the success of its development efforts,
achievement of regulatory milestones, the level of resources that we devote to the engagement or development of
manufacturing capabilities, and the strategy adopted for marketing its tests once approval is obtained. In addition, changes
in circumstances in the aviation industry and related government and business initiatives may require us to allocate
substantially more funds than are currently available or that management intends or is able to raise.

Are there any additional future sources of capital available to vour company? (Required capital contributions, lines of credit,
contemplated future capital raises, etc...)

The Company is planning to launch a Reg A offering which will start subsequent to the close of this crowdfunding
campaign. In addition, the Company is regularly in discussions with high-net-worth investors, investment firms, and family
offices.

Indebtedness



The Company does not have any material terms of indebtedness.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has not conducted any related party transactions

Valuation

Pre-Money Valuation: $209,118,683.84
Valuation Details:

The Company determined its pre-money valuation based on the price of our share on the last crowdfunding campaign (“CF
57), which ended in March 2025, multiplied by our total number of outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis. On our CF 5
campaign, we raised approximately $1.3 million. We are keeping the $2.96 price per share unchanged from CF 5, in this
crowdfunding campaign, which will be our fifth crowdfunding campaign.

This pre-money valuation was calculated internally by the Company without the use of any formal third-party evaluation.

The pre-money valuation has been calculated on a fully diluted basis. In making this calculation, we have assumed: (i) all
preferred stock is converted to common stock; (ii) all outstanding options, warrants, and other securities with a right to
acquire shares are exercised; and (iii) we have not included 3,580,008 shares reserved for issuance under a stock plan as they
are unissued.

The fully diluted calculation also does not include 7,725,161 shares of Common Stock that will be issued upon the Closing of
the Company's Stock Purchase Agreement with Innovation Wings Industries and any additional shares that may be issued
under that agreement. Please refer to our company overview section and Risk Factors section for more details about the
current status of this agreement.

Use of Proceeds

If we raise the Target Offering Amount of $9,995.88 we plan to use these proceeds as follows:

& StartEngine Platform Fees
7.5%

& Working Capital
91.5%
Working capital needs of the company that include the costs of developing the H1-X as well as general and
administrative and marketing costs.

If we raise the over allotment amount of $1,783,142.48, we plan to use these proceeds as follows:

# StartEngine Platform Fees
7.5%

* Working Capital
92.5%
Working capital needs of the company that include the costs of developing the H1-X as well as general and
administrative and marketing costs.

The Company may change the intended use of proceeds if our officers believe it is in the best interests of the company.

Regulatory Information

Disqualification

No disqualifying event has been recorded in respect to the company or its officers or directors.
Compliance Failure

The company has not previously failed to comply with the requirements of Regulation Crowdfunding.
Ongoing Reporting

The Company will file a report electronically with the SEC annually and post the report on its website no later than April 30
(120 days after Fiscal Year End). Once posted, the annual report may be found on the Company’s website at
https://doroni.io/ (https://www.doroni.io/ (Investors button on bottom of home page of website.)).



The Company must continue to comply with the ongoing reporting requirements until:
(1) it is required to file reports under Section 13{a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act;

(2) it has filed at least one (1) annual report pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding and has fewer than three hundred (300)
holders of record and has total assets that do not exceed $10,000,000;

(3) it has filed at least three (3) annual reports pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding;

(4) it or another party repurchases all of the securities issued in reliance on Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act, including
any payment in full of debt securities or any complete redemption of redeemable securities; or

(5) it liquidates or dissolves its business in accordance with state law.

Updates

Updates on the status of this Offering may be found at: www.startengine.com/doroni-regcf-6
Investing Process

See Exhibit E to the Offering Statement of which this Offering Memorandum forms a part.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Doroni Aerospace, Inc.
Coral Springs, Florida

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Doroni Aerospace, Inc. (the "Company,™), which comprise the balance
sheets as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, and the related statements of operations, changes in stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our apinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Going Concern

As discussed in Mote 13, certain conditions indicate that the Company may be unable to continue as a going
concern. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be
necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and
to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’'s ability to continue as a going
concern for period of twelve months from the date of issuance of these financial statements,

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal controls. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users made on the basis of these financial statements.



SE
APARL.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:
» Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

s [dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

s Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we [dentified during the audit.

SetApart Accountancy Corp.

April 25, 2025
Los Angeles, California



DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

As oF DEcEmMBER 31, 2024 AND DecemBer 31, 2023

(USD S in Dollars)
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash & cash equivalents
Restricted Cash
Prepaids and other current assets
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Right of use assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Credit card

Right of use liability, current portion

Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Right of use liability
Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Stock, $0.00001 par, 65,000,000 shares authorized
55,291,044 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024
and 2023

Class A Common Stock, $0.00001 par, 37,000,000 shares authorized
30,141 and 0 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2024 and 2023

Series Seed-1 Prefered Stock, $0.00001 par, 2,600,000 shares
authornzed 2,501,218 and 2,404,194 shares issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023

Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock, $0.00001 par, 20,400,000 shares
authorized 932,806 and 0 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023

Additional Paid In Capital
Accumulated Deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

5 3BB053 5 585,082
150,080 150,085
85,306 389,975
623,439 1,125,152
18,161 28,431
151,528 303,057
s 793,128 S 1,456,640
s 38833 5 20,600
22 465 £2,940
181,996 133,031
179476 16,209
422,770 232,780
- 186,547
42,010 150,000
5 464,780 § 569,327
s 553 § 175

1 -
25 24

9

9,927 803 6,901,054
(9,600,043) (6,013,940)
328,348 887,313
$ 793,128 S 1,456,640

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FORr YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemper 31, 2023

For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023
(USD S in Dollars)

Net revenue 5 - % -
Cost of services

Gross profit - -

Operating expenses

Research and development BE6,484 974,261
General and administrative 2,699,713 2,350,683
Total operating expenses 3,586,197 3,324,944
Net Operating loss (3,586,197) (3,324,944)
Interest expense - (74,927
Other income/(loss) 94 198
Loss before provision for income taxes (3,586,103) (3,399,673)

Benefit/(Provision) for income taxes - -

Met Loss 5 F,EEE,IDS! 5 !3,399,5?3!

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



DORONI AEROSPACE INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND DecemBer 31, 2023

(LS & in Dollars, eacept per shane data)

Balance—December 31, 2022

Ehare adjustment

lssuance of Seed 1 - Preferred stock - Beg CF2
lssuance of Seed 1 - Preferred stock - Beg CF3
lssuance of Seed 1 - Preferred stock - Ceabmaker
Offering costs

Thare-Based Compensation

et imcome|lass]

Balksnoe—December 31, 2023

thare adjustment

Issuance of 5eed 1 - Preferred stock - Ceabmaker
lszuance of Seed 2- Preferred stock - Beg CFd
Lashless Exerdse of emiployes stock options

Offering costs

lssuance of warrants
thare-Based Compensatian
HWet imcome| lossl
Balance—December 31, 2024

Comimnn Stack Class A Comimsan Stock Serigs Sead-1 Praferred Stock sartes Seed-1 Tatal
Preferred Stock Additional Paid fccwmulated Shareholders’
Shares Amount Shames Aot Shares Amaunt Shares Amaient Im Cagpital Dreficit Eqquity
55,515,128 % 175 - $ - TRO,TAD 5 ] ] B.264, 961 - (2,614, 367) 5 GS0ETT
2,023 - - - - - - -

- - - 495,704 5 1,035,016 - 1,085,021

- - 1,115,440 11 2248113 - 2,248, 124

- - - 14,313 - 9,550 600
- - - (171,04 2] - {171,025

- - - - - 514,316 - 514, 316

- - - - - - (3,355 673} 13,359 673)
55517151 % s - % - 2,404,194 24 - % 5 6,500, 054 5 (6,013.%80) 5 BET. 1N

(26,107 % 178 4 37| -

- - - - a7.024 | 173,452 - 173 453

- - - - EEFR 9 1817166 - 1,837,135

30,141 1 1

- - - - - (154,054 | - {154, (raay

3 559 41659

- - - 1147 564 - 1,147 964

- - - - - - - - (3,586,103} 13,5805 103)
55201044 % 555 0141 % 1 2501218 25 a3z a0k % 9 5 9,927 803 5 19,600,043} % 2% 348

G groampanping nodes Mo finonood slalements



DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
STATEMENTS OF CasH FLows

FORr YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemper 31, 2023

As of December 31, 2024 2023

(USD 5 in Dollars)
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Met loss 5 (3,586,103) 5 (3,399,673}
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 161,201 15,7559
Share based compensation expense 1,147 964 514,316
Issuance of warrants for services rendered 42,659 -
Write-off of fixed asset 598 -
Mon-cash |ease expense - 12
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Frepaids and other current assets 304,669 123,954
Accounts payable 18,233 (49,239)
Credit Card (40,475) 31,7584
Other liabilities 55,277 19,227
Met cash used by operating activities (1,895,977) (2,743,860)
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment (38,162)
MNet cash used in investing activities - (38,162)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Lease Liability principle repayments (137,572)
Proceeds from issuance of stock, net of offering costs 1,836,504 3121781
Met cash provided by financing activities 1,698,932 3,121,781
Change in cash & cash equivalents (197,044) 339,759
Cash—Dbeginning of the year 735177 395 418

Cash—end of the year 5 538,133 5§ 735177

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year for interest 5 25.271) & 74,927)

OTHER MONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES AMD SUPPLEMENTAL
DISCLOSURES
Stock issued as broker commission 5 53671 5 =

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Doroni Aerospace LLC was formed on May 3, 2018, as a limited liability company in the state of Florida and subsequently
converted to a corporation on October 6, 2021, in the state of Delaware. The financial statements of Doroni Aerospace
Inc. {which may be referred to as the "Company”, "we”, "us”, or "our”) are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.5. GAAP"). The Company’s headquarters are located
in Coral Springs, Florida.

The Company is a pre-revenue aerospace engineering and manufacturing company that has developed a practical,
efficient, and cost-effective electric vertical takeoff and landing aircraft (“eVTOL") mebility platform. The Company’s
go-to-market product, currently under development, the Doroni HL, is a two-seater personal eVTOL that is anticipated
by the Company to be made available for public purchase, which anyone can own, fly, and park in a standard two-car
garage. Doroni is targeting a Light Sport Aircraft (“LSA") certification with the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA")
ahead of Doroni's anticipated product launch at the beginning of 2027.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The summary of significant accounting policies is presented to assist in understanding the Company's financial
staterments. The accounting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP" and “US GAAP").

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with US
GAAP, and the Company has adopted the calendar year as its basis of reporting.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash in banks, cash on hand, and all highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company's cash &
cash equivalents exceeded FDIC insured limits by 5288,061 and 485,177, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company is subject to concentrations of credit risks primarily from cash, cash equivalents, and accounts receivable.
At various times during the years, the Company may have bank deposits in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation insurance limits. Management believes any credit risk is low due to the overall financial strength of the
financial institutions. Accounts receivable consist of uncollateralized receivables from customers/clients primarily
located throughout the United States of America.



DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for additions, major renewals, and betterments are capitalized,
and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged against income as incurred. When property and equipment
are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts,
and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in statements of operations.

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment are computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets,

Estimated useful lives for property and equipment are as follows:

Category Useful Life
Desktop Computers and Laptops 3 years
Furniture & Fixtures 3 years
Tools, Machinery & Equipment 3 years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recorded in the period in which it is determined that the carrying amount is not recoverable. The
determination of recoverability is made based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use
of the asset and its eventual disposition. The measurement of the impairment for long-lived assets is based on the
asset’s estimated fair value. No such impairment was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023,

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In determining
when and how revenue is to be recognized from contracts with customers, the Company performs the following five
step analysis laid under Accounting Standard Codification ("ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers: (1)
identification of contract with customers, (2) determination of performance obligations, (3) measurement of the
transaction price, (4) allocation of transaction price to the performance obligations, and (5) recognition of revenue when
or as the company satisfies each performance obligation.

Revenue is recognized at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer. The Company will
earn revenues from sales of electrically powered vertical takeoff and landing vehicles.

Research and Development Costs

Costs incurred in the research and development of the Company’s product are expensed as incurred. Research and
development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, amounted to 886,484 and
5974,261, respectively.



DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

Income Taxes

The Company is taxed as a C corporation for income tax purposes. The Company accounts for income taxes under the
liability method, and deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax conseguences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying values of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases, Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets
if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company records
interest, net of any applicable related income tax benefit, on potential income tax contingencies as a component of
income tax expense. The Company records tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return based upon the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized or paid, including in connection with the resolution of any related
appeals or other legal processes. Accordingly, the Company recognizes liabilities for certain unrecognized tax benefits
based on the amounts that are more likely than not to be settled with the relevant taxing authority. The Company
recognizes interest and/or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense,

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception by determining whether the agreement conveys the
right to control the use of the identified asset for a period of time, whether the Company has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset, and the right to direct the use of the asset.
Lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based upon the present value of the remaining future
minimum lease payments over the lease term using the rate implicit in the lease or the Company's incremental
borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest the Company would have to pay to
borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term in an amount egual to the lease payments in a similar economic
environment. The Company's lease terms include options to renew or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain
that it will exercise the option.

The lease right-of-use assets are initially measured at the carrying amount of the lease liability and adjusted for any
prepaid or accrued lease payments, remaining balance of lease incentives received, unamortized initial direct costs, or
impairment charges relating to the right-of-use-asset. Certain leases contain escalation clauses, which are factored into
the right-of-use asset where appropriate. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Variable lease expenses include payments related to the usage of the leased asset (utilities, real estate taxes, insurance,
and variable common area maintenance) and are expensed as incurred. The Company's lease agreements do not contain
any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation to both employees and non-employees in accordance with ASC
718, Compensation - Stock Compensation. Under the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718, stock-based
compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as an expense
ratably over the requisite service period, which is generally the option vesting period. The Company uses the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments included in current assets and current liabilities (such as cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash eguivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued
expenses approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of such instruments.



DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

The inputs used to measure fair value are based on a hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used
in valuation technigues. These levels, in order of highest to lowest priority, are described below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market
data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs reflecting the Company's assumptions, consistent with reasonably available
assumptions made by other market participants. These valuations require significant judgment.

Advertising and Promotion

Advertising and promotional costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs incurred during the years ended
December 31, 2024, and 2023 are 5398,467 and 5355,246, respectively.

Subsequent Events

The Company considers events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date, but prior to the issuance of the
financial statements, to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that require
additional disclosure. Subsequent events have been evaluated through April 25, 2025, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.

3. DETAILS OF CERTAIN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Account payables consist primarily of trade payables, while credit card liabilities refer to short-term liabilities towards
the bank due to the credit card usage.

Prepaid and other current assets consist of the following items:

As of December 31, 2024 2023

Prepaid expenses S 12,452 S 33,931
Deposits 72,854 98,174
Escrow receivable - 257,870
Total Prepaids and Other Current Assets S B5306 S 389,975

Other current liabilities consist of the following items:

As of December 31, 2024 2023
Accrued Expenses 29,119 2,037
Refundable deposits from customers 150,000 -
Tax Payable 357 14,172
Total Other Current Liabilities 5 179476 & 16,209
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DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, property and equipment consists of:

As of Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023
Computers 5 23,191 5 23,191
Tools, Machinery & Equipment 20,892 21,490
Furniture & Fixtures 2,600 2,600
Property and Equipment, at Cost 46,683 47,281
Accumulated depreciation (28,522) (18,850)
Property and Equipment, Net 5 18,161 § 28,431

Depreciation expenses for property and equipment for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 were in the
amount of $9,672 and 515,759, respectively.

5. CAPITALIZATION AND EQUITY TRANSACTIONS

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 65,000,000 shares designated as Common Stock with a par value of 50.00001. As of
December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, 55,291,044 Common Shares have been issued and outstanding.

Class A Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 37,000,000 shares designated as Class A Common Stock with a par value of 50.00001.
As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, 30,141 and 0 class A Common Stock have been issued and
outstanding, respectively.

Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 2,600,000 shares designated as Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock with a par value of
50.00001. As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, 2,501,218 and 2,404,194 Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock
have been issued and outstanding, respectively.

Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 20,400,000 shares designated as Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock with a par value of
S0.00001. As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, 932,806 and 0 Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock have been
issued and outstanding, respectively.
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DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

6. WARRANTS

A summary of the Company's warrants activity and related information is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Contract
Number of Awards Exercise Term
QOutstanding at December 31, 2023 - 5 -
Granted 90,510 1.56
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 90,510 5 1.56 S 4.25

The fair value of the warrants was estimated on the date of grant. The total value of the warrants was 542,659 and 0
on December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively.

7. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

During 2022, the Company adopted its 2022 Equity Incentive Plan {which may be referred to as the “Plan 1”). The
Company reserved 1,353,750 shares of its Common Stock to Plan 1, and, in giving effect to a 1:4 stock split effected by
the Company, there were 5,415,000 shares of the Company’s Commaon 5Stock allocated to Plan 1. This provides for the
grant of shares of stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based awards to employees, non-employee
directors, and non-employee consultants. During 2024, the Company decreased the pool of Plan 1 by 2,520,000 shares
to 2,895,000 shares, and as of December 31, 2024, Plan 1 had no shares available for future grants.

During 2022, the Company adopted its 2022 Stock Plan (which may be referred to as the “Plan 2"). The Company
reserved 3,304,000 shares of its Class A Common Stock, and pursuant to the Plan 2, which provides for the grant of
shares of stock options, stock appreciation rights, and stock awards (performance shares) to employees, non-employee
directors, and non-employee consultants. During 2024, the Company increased the pool of Plan 2 by 8,051,734 and as
of December 31, 2024, there were 3,570,008 shares available for future grants under the Plan 2.

The option exercise price generally may not be less than the underlying stock's fair market value at the date of the grant,
and generally has a term of three years. The amounts granted each calendar year to an employee or non-employee are
limited, depending on the type of award.

Stock Options

The Company granted stock options. The stock options were valued using the Black-S5choles pricing model with a range
of inputs indicated below:

As of Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023
Expected life (years) 10.00 10.00
Risk-free interest rate 4.25% 4.23%
Expected volatility 75% 75%
Annual dividend yield ) 0%
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DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

The risk-free interest rate assumption for options granted is based upon observed interest rates on the United States
government securities appropriate for the expected term of the Company's employee stock options. The expected term
of employee stock options is calculated using the simplified method, which takes into consideration the contractual life
and vesting terms of the options.

The Company determined the expected volatility assumption for options granted using the historical volatility of a
comparable public company's Common Stock. The Company will continue to monitor peer companies and other relevant
factors used to measure expected volatility for future stock option grants until such time that the Company's commaon
stock has enough market history to use historical volatility.

The dividend yield assumption for options granted is based on the Company's history and expectation of dividend
payouts. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its Common Stock, and the Company does not

anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Management estimated the fair value of common stock based on recent sales to third parties, Forfeitures are recognized
as incurred,

A summary of the Company’s stock options activity and related information is as follows:

Weighted Average
Number of Awards Exercise

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 5 7315000 S 0.59
Granted 1,468,611 1.56
Exercised - -
Expired/Cancelled (1,720,000) (0.71)
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 5 7063611 S 0.76
Granted 5467115 1.09
Exercised (81,250) 1.56
Expired/Cancelled (1,768,750) 0.52
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 w
As of Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023
Expected life (years) 10.00 10.00
Risk-free interest rate 4.25% 4.23%
Expected volatility 75% 75%
Annual dividend yield 0% 0%

The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock-based compensation awards using the straight-line basis over
the applicable service period of the award. The service period is generally the vesting period.
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DORONI AEROSPACE INC.
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

8. LEASES
In November 2022, the Company entered into a lease agreement to rent its primary business premises. The lease has
an original period expiring on December 31, 2025. We do not assume renewals in our determination of the lease term

unless the renewals are deemed to be reasonably assured, Our lease agreements generally do not contain any material
residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

The weighted average lease term as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 is 1 year and 2 years, respectively.
The weighted average discount rate used for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 was 10%.

Amortization expenses related to lease for both fiscal years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 were in the amount
of 5151,529.

Interest expenses related to lease for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 were in the amount of $25,271
and 539,684, respectively.

The aggregate minimum annual lease payments under operating leases in effect on December 31, 2024, are as follows:

For Year Ended December 31,

2025 5 190,418
Undiscounted Lease Payments 190,418
Less: Present value discount 8,422
Total 5 181,996

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the Company engaged certain members of
management as independent contractors rather than employees. The total payments made to these related parties for
services rendered amounted to 5147,324 and 568,090, respectively.

10. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

As of December 31, 2024 2023

Net Provision for income tax S (950,317) 5 (900,913)
Valuation Allowance 950,317 900,913
Net Provision for income tax S - 5 -

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

As of December 31, 2024 2023

MNet Operating Loss 5 (2,501,628) 5 (1,551,310)
Valuation Allowance 2,501,628 1,551,310
Total Deferred Tax Asset S - 5 -
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For YEAR ENDED TO DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND Decemeer 31, 2023

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will
be generated to use the existing deferred tax assets. On the basis of this evaluation, the Company has determined that
it is more likely than not that the Company will not recognize the benefits of the federal and state net deferred tax
assets, and, as a result, full valuation allowance has been set against its net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024
and December 31, 2023. The amount of the deferred tax asset to be realized could be adjusted if estimates of future
taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced or increased.

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, the Company had an estimated federal cumulative net operating loss
(“NOL") carryforward of approximately 9.8 million. Utilization of some of the federal and state NOL carryforwards to
reduce future income taxes will depend on the Company's ability to generate sufficient taxable income prior to the
expiration of the carryforwards. The federal net operating loss carryforward is subject to an 30% limitation on taxable
income, does not expire, and will carry on indefinitely.

The Company recognizes the impact of a tax position in the financial statements if that position is more likely than not
to be sustained on a tax return upon examination by the relevant taxing authority, based on the technical merits of the
position. As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of

December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the Company had no accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain
tax positions.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contingencies

The Company’s operations are subject to a variety of local, state, and federal regulations. Failure to comply with these
requirements may result in fines, penalties, restrictions on operations, or losses of permits, which will have an adverse
impact on the Company’s operations and might result in an cutflow of economic resources.

Litigation and Claims

From time to time, the Company may be involved in or exposed to litigation arising from its operation in the normal
course of business. As of December 31, 2024, there were no pending or threatened lawsuits that could reasonably be
expected to have a material effect on the results of the Company’s